

Lund University Master of Science in International Development and Management

May 2024

Women's Solidarity for Resilience

A study of women's solidarity and its impact on resilience and recovery after the 6 February earthquakes in Türkiye

Author: Sevinç Melis Erler

Supervisor: Helle Rydström

Abstract

Disasters exacerbate pre-existing gender inequalities, rendering women vulnerable to various

forms of harm. Nevertheless, women are not victims to be protected by men; rather, they play

a significant role in post-disaster recovery. Previous studies in Türkiye's context revealed a

lack of gender lens in disaster response and management. This thesis investigates the gendered

experiences of women in the aftermath of the 6 February earthquakes in Türkiye, using social

vulnerability concepts with an intersectional lens and feminist political ecology. It specifically

looks at how women expressed solidarity, the factors impacting their solidarity, and how

women's solidarity impacted local community resilience and recovery. Based on the collected

data, it also provides development aid strategies to support earthquake survivor women in

Türkiye and beyond. Adopting a feminist methodology, the data is collected with 9 semi-

structured interviews in Türkiye and analyzed using thematic analysis. The findings shed light

on the challenges women face in Türkiye's post-disaster setting and show that women's

solidarity initiatives are a driving force for positive change in post-disaster recovery efforts,

prioritizing local knowledge, expertise, and resources. Women's solidarity and collective

action positively impact their local communities and contribute to community resilience.

Keywords: women solidarity, women empowerment, disaster, disaster and gender, social

vulnerability

Word Count: 14,975

2

Acknowledgments

First of all, I would like to mention the survivors of the 6th February 2023 earthquakes, who still grapple with many challenges while trying to rebuild their lives. I hope that through this thesis, I was able to relay their experiences and demonstrate their immense strength. I would like to express my gratitude to the interview participants for giving me their time and sharing their insights and experiences, as this thesis would not have been possible without them.

Furthermore, I would like to thank my thesis supervisor, Helle Rydström, for her guidance. I also want to mention my fellow LUMIDers; these past two years with you all were invaluable, and I will always remember them fondly. I cherish the friendships that I made, and I hope to keep in contact as we all embark on our journeys after completing this milestone.

This past year was the most difficult year of my life, and completing this thesis while grappling with grief would not have been possible without the immense love and support of my family and friends. Thank you to my dear Mom and my dear sister for your constant faith in me, for your reassuring words, and calming presence during moments of anxiety. I am deeply grateful to my dear friend Seda; meeting you was one of the best things that happened to me when I moved to Lund, and this thesis wouldn't have been possible without your continuous support and guidance. Thank you, Volkan, for always being there for me in my happiest and hardest days, for being the rock I could lean on, and for supporting me through this academic journey.

Lastly, and most importantly, I would like to dedicate this thesis to my dear Dad. I would not have been the person that I am today if it weren't for your unconditional love and continuous support. You were always so proud of me, and you inspired me to persevere despite the challenges along the way. Thank you for everything. You will be forever loved and always missed.

Table Of Contents

Abstract Acknowledgments Table Of Contents		2
		3 4
	1.1 Thesis Structure	6
2.	Literature Review	7
	2.1 Natural Disasters and Gender	7
	2.2 Women's Resilience in Natural Disasters	9
	2.3 Women's Solidarity in Linking Relief, Rehabilitation and Development	11
	2.4 Contextual Framework: Türkiye Earthquakes and Women Solidarity	14
	2.5 Case Study: 6 February 2023 Earthquakes	16
3.	Theoretical Framework	18
	3.1 Social Vulnerability with an Intersectional Lens	18
	3.2 Feminist Political Ecology	20
4.	Methodology	22
	4.1 Feminist Research	22
	4.2 Data Collection Methods	23
	4.2.1 Semi-Structured Interviews	23
	4.2.2 Sampling	24
	4.2.3 Positionality Reflexivity and Ethical Considerations	24
	4.2.4 Limitations	25
	4.3 Thematic Analysis	25
5.	Findings and Analysis	26
	5.1 Gendered Experiences of Earthquake Survivor Women	26
	5.2 Women's Solidarity and Empowerment in Post-Disaster Recovery	34
	5.3 Development Aid Strategies	43
6.	Discussion and Concluding Remarks	45
Appendix 1		47
Appendix 2		50
Bibliography		51

1. Introduction

Natural disasters are environmental events that often, but not inevitably, cause extensive loss and disruptions to people living and working in hazardous environments (Enarson, 2000). However, the risk of harm from disasters varies between and within societies due to historical and political factors. The vulnerability approach to disasters suggests that inequalities in exposure and sensitivity to risk, as well as inequalities in access to resources, capabilities, and opportunities, systematically disadvantage certain groups of people, rendering them more vulnerable to the impact of natural disasters (Neumayer and Plümper, 2007). Women and girls are more vulnerable in terms of mortality and exposure to harm in the post-disaster context, with Bradshaw and Fordham (2013) noting that due to social and cultural reasons and existing gender norms, women are more likely to die than men after a large-scale disaster. However, while women suffer disproportionately in the aftermath of disasters, resilience, and vulnerability are the opposite sides of the same coin (Twigg, 2007), and women are not only 'victims' who need to be saved; in fact, women are active agents of aid (Moreno and Shaw, 2018).

On February 6, 2023, two earthquakes, with magnitudes of 7.7 and 7.6, hit Türkiye. These earthquakes were the second-strongest earthquakes to occur in Türkiye in the past century, and they affected 11 big cities where more than 14 million people lived. While the earthquakes occurring on February 6, 2023, have garnered scholarly attention both domestically and internationally, a noticeable gap exists in the literature concerning the specific contributions of women within the contexts of post-disaster recovery and reconstruction efforts. The inclination of individuals to unite and demonstrate solidarity during the aftermath of disasters enhances social connections and facilitates the reorganization of societal structures (Erdoğan, 2023; Selçuk, 2024). Considering these aspects, this thesis focuses on understanding women's experiences after the 6 February 2024 earthquakes in Türkiye. It looks at the role that women play in the post-earthquake context through their solidarity and how this impacts local community resilience. It pays special attention to women's solidarity and discovers the factors that impact their solidarity negatively or positively. Finally, as a future development practitioner, it discusses policy implications for supporting earthquake survivor women in Türkiye and beyond. The research questions that the thesis aims to answer are as follows:

- How does 'gender' shape women's experiences in the aftermath of 6 February earthquakes?
- How is women's solidarity expressed in post-disaster towns in Türkiye and how does it impact local community resilience and recovery?
- What are the factors that impacted Turkish women's solidarity during the recovery process?
- What kind of development aid strategies can be designed to support earthquake survivor women in Türkiye and beyond?

1.1 Thesis Structure

In Chapter 2, the thesis contextualizes the study topic and provides a literature review of the existing studies of natural disasters and gender, women's resilience, women's solidarity, and the roles women collectively have played in recovery and reconstruction with examples from around the world. In 2.4 and 2.5 the thesis specifies the chosen context, 6 February 2023 earthquakes in Türkiye. Chapter 3 introduces theoretical concepts of Social Vulnerability, Intersectionality and Feminist Political Ecology. Chapter 4 discusses the study context and explains the methodology in depth. Chapter 5 provides the analysis and links the findings with the theoretical framework. The research ends with a discussion, conclusion, and suggestions for further research in Chapter 6.

2. Literature Review

2.1 Natural Disasters and Gender

Natural disasters create serious consequences for the environment and/or local communities at socio-cultural, economic, psychological, and/or political/institutional/governance levels (Imperiale and Vanclay, 2021). After disasters, the disruption of daily routines, resource shortages, heightened insecurity, and increased anxiety impose significant challenges on society as a whole. However, specific groups with limited access to information and resources, as well as inadequate preparedness, often experience disproportionately greater difficulties during and after disasters.

Vulnerability to natural disasters is a multi-dimensional concept. The vulnerability of certain individuals or groups is a consequence of a social condition, which is, in part, the result of social inequalities. Indeed, research over multiple years has shown that the main driver of vulnerability is poverty (PreventionWeb, 2017). Poverty is both a driver and consequence of disaster risk, as economic pressures force people to live in unsafe locations and conditions. UNDP (2015) notes that developing nations have the financial means to construct houses that are more resistant to earthquakes as their economies advance, meanwhile, poor developing nations are less able to finance disaster mitigation. Concurrently, rapid urban growth can cause unplanned development, increasing risks during disasters (ibid.). Disaster losses in developing countries are more substantial, resulting in the country diverting its resources from human and social development to urgently needed recovery efforts and reconstruction of infrastructure (Enarson et al., 2007).

While countries face similar patterns of natural hazards, such as floods, droughts, and earthquakes, the impact of disasters varies considerably. Although natural disasters are, in fact, "natural", their social, political, and economic repercussions are not (Puttick et al., 2018). Some demographic groups, such as women, children, the elderly, the disabled, migrants, and displaced populations, are frequently, but not always, linked to vulnerability (Lupieri, 2022).

Globally, women are more likely to die than men after a large-scale disaster, and this is due to social and cultural reasons and existing gender norms, rather than biological ones (Bradshaw and Fordham, 2013). While the term "gender" is used often in this context, its meaning is sometimes oversimplified, referring just to women rather than the intricate power dynamics that exist in cultures (UN Women, 2016). The existing gender norms result in a lack of access to resources to cope in the aftermath of a disaster. Due to women's restricted access to assets (physical, financial, human, social, and natural) and unequal power relations, women's capacity to respond is undermined (Bradshaw and Fordham, 2014). Unequal power relations are rooted in the societal roles assigned to men and women. These power relations can create social conditions that leave millions of women around the globe in substandard housing, socially marginalized, impoverished or economically insecure, overburdened with caregiving responsibilities, and lacking social power and political voice (Enarson et al., 2007). For instance, four times as many women as men died in the tsunami-affected areas of Indonesia, Sri Lanka, and India¹. Some of the reasons for this were similar across these countries: women died because they stayed behind to look for their children and other relatives, or they were at their home near the sea while their male counterparts were outside working, away from the sea, lowering their chances of being caught in the tsunami.

After natural disasters, catastrophic circumstances cause the existing family, community, and institutional security and protection to fail. In such contexts, disasters can worsen existing gender discrimination by causing a scarcity of resources and a temporary disruption of social order, leading to the exacerbation of social norms and role behaviors associated with gender inequality (Neumayer and Plümper, 2007). The consequences created after a disaster could be the "secondary disaster" that women face due to exacerbated vulnerabilities. For instance, research shows that in post-disaster contexts, the prevalence of women engaging in transactional sex to gain access to food and other basic goods during emergencies (Daniel and Logie, 2017). Meanwhile, violence against women and girls may increase post-disaster, including violence by a non-partner or intimate partner, rape/sexual assault, as well as female genital mutilation, honor killings, and the trafficking of women (Thurston et al., 2021). There were reports of widespread rape after the 2010 Haiti earthquake, while intimate partner

⁻

¹ Oxfam (2005) How Women Were Affected by the Tsunami: A Perspective from Oxfam. Available at: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1160583/pdf/pmed.0020178.pdf

violence was estimated to have increased by 40% in rural areas after the 2011 Christchurch earthquake in New Zealand (Thurston et al., 2021; True, 2013).

Studies also show that the coping strategies employed by survivors in the aftermath of disasters also impact female members of the families more than male members. Kabeer (2015) notes that efforts to cut back on consumption often impact female members more than males. The gender of children taken out of school appeared to vary according to whether girls' education was seen as less essential or whether boys' earning capacity was considered more necessary. For example, a drought in Zimbabwe led to a decline in women's nutritional status, but not men's, with the negative impact stronger among women from poorer households (ibid.).

Studies show that generally, women experience additional burdens as caregiving roles and responsibilities at home may increase post-disaster (Enarson et al., 2007). In Pakistan, the 2010 floods put a strain on women's gender roles in families and communities post-disaster, with research suggesting women's workload had effectively doubled as a result of the 2010 and particularly the 2011 floods that affected the Bodin district, in contrast, men's workload remained largely unchanged (Drolet et al., 2015).

The studies discussed above reveal gender-based disparities in the experiences of women and men across distinct stages of disasters, encompassing aspects such as survival rates, injuries, trauma, and recovery processes. These disparities are rooted in diverse biological, familial, social, and cultural factors, depicting unique needs and priorities for each gender throughout various phases of disaster response and recovery. Moreover, it has been shown that women exhibit more severe post-disaster vulnerabilities, which are exacerbated by gender disparities in access to limited resources. That being said, while women are typically typecast as "hapless victims protected and rescued by vigilant men", women are actively present to some degree in every aspect of disaster (Enarson and Morrow, 1998). It is crucial to examine the skills and contributions of women at various stages of the disaster management process.

2.2 Women's Resilience in Natural Disasters

Local communities impacted by disasters are confronted with circumstances that demand them to redesign and reimagine their structures and processes to survive. Resilience is described as

the ability of a social system to respond and recover from disasters and includes inherent conditions enabling the system to absorb impacts and cope with an event, as well as post-event, adaptive processes that enable the social system to re-organize, change, and learn (Cutter et al., 2008). Similarly, community resilience refers to the ability of a community to respond and recover from disasters (ibid.). Resilience and vulnerability are two sides of the same coin (Twigg, 2007).

While research recognizes that women are more vulnerable to disasters than men and experience secondary or indirect impacts that result from the disaster, it should not be presumed that women are passive recipients of aid and protection due to their inherent vulnerability, as emphasized by Enarson and Morrow (1998). Women are proactive participants in resiliencebuilding and humanitarian action, and their time, skills, and energy are key resources in every phase of disasters, from household preparedness to community reintegration (Enarson et al., 2007). For instance, in El Morro, one of the most affected regions by the 2010 Chile earthquake and tsunami, Moreno and Shaw's (2018) study shows that the evacuation process and coping strategies were gendered as men took charge of rescue and relief operations, while women looked after their children, men taking the role of "heroes" or "rescuers", while women were the "rescued" or "victims". However, as women's resilience expanded, women's domestic and community management roles changed as they spontaneously took their skills from a domestic/household level to a community level by creating grassroots groups and showing leadership by establishing a community kitchen. Similarly, in post-earthquake Nepal, women understood reconstruction as rebuilding in a new and improved way by organizing and unifying women, addressing community issues, and getting more female leadership (Crawford and Morrison, 2021). The World Bank (2020) notes that after the 2015 earthquake in Nepal, some women were trained as masons to help repair and reconstruct houses, infrastructure, and cultural sites to be earthquake-proof. In the context of the aftermath of Hurricane Mitch, women in El Hatillo participated in multiple forms of disaster work such as clearing roads, building new houses, constructing gabions to protect the riverbanks while also growing vegetables, running a communal kitchen, and reforesting the hillsides (Cupples, 2007).

Women's resilience after disasters is an adaptive process. Taking care of the family in emergencies, taking children and animals to safety, and storage of food and other essential items are some of the functions carried out entirely by women in such situations (Ariyabandu,

2003). While these could be classified as more 'gendered' divisions of labor, and it could be defended that the disaster context only emphasized this gendered division, research of post-disaster literature shows that after disasters, globally, women have tended to shoulder responsibilities well outside the traditional 'gendered' divisions of labor. In Miami, for example, some women found employment in construction, developed new negotiating skills working with home contractors and insurance adjusters, or used disaster relief funds to escape abusive relationships (Enarson and Morrow, 1996). After Hurricane Mitch, women were found to be heavily involved in such traditional "male" work as digging wells and constructing latrines, but "while there were some reports that men were also performing non-traditional roles like cooking, this seems to have been isolated to a few relief facilities" (Delaney and Shrader, 2000) which shows women's adaptability. In another location affected by Hurricane Mitch, Nicaragua, women mended roads, walked many miles in search of food and other types of help, and made makeshift shelters during the immediate crisis (Bradshaw, 2001).

2.3 Women's Solidarity in Linking Relief, Rehabilitation and Development

The disaster cycle could be seen as follows: disaster mitigation and prevention phase, disaster preparedness phase, disaster phase, emergency phase, rehabilitation, and reconstruction phase (Delaney and Shrader, 2000). The emergency phase involves immediate assistance to save lives, and depending on the magnitude of the disaster, it could take days, weeks, or months. At this stage, rescuing people and meeting the survivors' most basic needs is the priority. The rehabilitation & reconstruction phase is also called the 'recovery' phase, and it signifies the return of the community to normal or near normal, and it is a phase that may last for many years (Temin et al., 2015). During the recovery phase, funds and technical assistance often flow to affected areas, allowing previously excluded groups, such as ethnic minorities and poor women, to informally participate and take on new roles.

Natural disasters provide an opportunity to transform society and to use the devastation to 'build back better'; in fact, disasters have been conceptualized as catalysts for change and as windows of opportunity (Paton, 2006; Bradshaw, 2013) in the rehabilitation and reconstruction phase. Large-scale disasters that have destroyed or damaged the region's infrastructure, as well as cultural norms regarding roles and responsibilities, present a chance for the government, civil society, and the international community to reshape the region's development. Delaney

and Shrader (2000) note that during the recovery phase after a disaster, women typically cope by utilizing formal and informal social networks to address the needs of their family, children, and the greater society. In order to do this, they establish temporary shelters, coordinate community relief efforts, use networks to accommodate displaced family members, and mobilize women's groups to meet immediate needs. In fact, according to Ariyabandu's research (2009), in many communities, women outnumber men when it comes to taking an active part in community disaster initiatives, both in leadership roles and at the grassroots. Meanwhile, men often rely on strategies that distance them from their families and communities, mostly to earn an income. In such cases where men are absent, women are the sole responsible for rebuilding lives.

Through the post-disaster rebuilding phase, women have been observed to have increased participation in the community, playing a more public role at times in leadership positions. They have shown cooperation and 'solidarity'. Women's solidarity in post-disaster contexts has made itself visible through grassroots groups, with women taking their domestic/household skills and applying them to the community level. Women have been active in rebuilding their communities in post-disaster recovery, and they outnumber men in leadership and membership of emergent grassroots groups (Enarson, 2000). In 2004 and 2005, a series of four hurricanes landed in Volusia County, Florida, USA. As a result of the lack of help more than 48 hours after the hurricane, a small group of women spontaneously organized and provided outreach and assistance to the community overlooked by the government: Outreach teams of women delivered care packages into the impacted areas of the community and, while handing out supplies, also searched for those in need who had been passed over by the traditional disasterserving organizations (Drolet et al, 2015). Later, they contributed to the formation of a Community Disaster Response Group (ibid.). A similar impact of women's solidarity beyond the immediate survival was seen in Nepal: after the 2015 Nepal earthquake, women's groups advocated for the integration of gender equality and women's empowerment in disaster recovery and reconstruction efforts in the country which resulted in the 15-point Kathmandu Declaration on disaster risk management, endorsed by government authorities and development partners, that set out key demands for gender-responsive recovery and reconstruction (GFDRR, 2018). These studies illustrate the important role women's solidarity plays in disaster recovery and reconstruction phases.

Women's solidarity and resilience also helped in rebuilding after the 6.3 magnitude earthquake that happened in the Latur and Osmanabad districts in India on 30 September 1993. Yonder et al. (2012) describe how the non-profit organization SSP engaged women's groups in the Repair and Strengthening (R&S) program, empowering them to take on leadership roles despite facing challenges and social resistance from men. The non-profit organization used women's solidarity as a means to empower women, and women used village assemblies to address household issues, demand procedural changes, and hold local leaders accountable, eventually involving government officials in decision-making processes. As women gained a reputation as resource providers and problem solvers, social relations changed. Officials became more responsive and trusted women's information, and community support strengthened women's political identity (Yonder et al., 2012).

Another example of Women's Solidarity appeared after the Indian Ocean Tsunami hit the coasts of Sri Lanka on 26 December 2004. A women's organization known as Women's Savings Effort (WSE) played a significant role in post-disaster community rebuilding; they organized independent community-based Women's Organizations, which initiated their own collective savings fund in the hope of providing credit facilities to their members to restart their lost livelihoods. As Renuka and Srimulyani (2015) describe, the destruction caused by the tsunami was a catalyst for the WSE to organize and mobilize the affected women to use their collective strength to overcome the challenges. Prior to the tsunami, most women lived and worked as housewives and were not involved in social or development activities. After the tsunami, they formed women's organizations, held meetings, developed financial rules, and met with government officials to negotiate rights and services. Forming women's groups helped them gain respect and influence, advocating for needed facilities from local authorities. After the project, around 80% of women gained significant decision-making power, becoming more engaged in their communities and more mobile. Renuka and Srimulyani (2015) also found that women's collective efforts helped women's groups address issues such as sexual abuse, violence, and land ownership. They acted as a pressure group on policymakers and bureaucrats through advocacy programs. Here, the study revealed the success of the concept of Linking Relief, Rehabilitation, and Development (LRRD). LRRD approaches in natural disasters suggest that emergency relief operations, while addressing immediate needs, should also incorporate measures to enhance resilience for future crises by offering long-term development benefits and reinforcing risk management (EUR-Lex, 2015). WSE, using this approach,

provided short-term interventions for survival while also providing long-term effects as the women's organizations' confidence grew collectively and enabled them to exercise their rights.

Women assuming non-stereotypical gender roles, such as rescue, repair, and construction; and women taking on leadership roles could trigger societal changes in the community in the post-disaster phase. In the 1999 Düzce earthquake in Türkiye, men lost their breadwinner role due to job and business losses. Women and girls took jobs outside the home, prompting some men to reassess their contributions to household chores as they saw their wives and daughters' increased workload (Kümbetoğlu et al., 2007). After Hurricane Mitch, studies revealed that some men started to fulfill social roles previously performed by women, including gardening, food preparation, and water provision. Similarly, women's active participation in the disaster response, both as individuals and as members of women's committees, enhanced their sense of self-worth, resulting in a sense of personal social empowerment as a direct result of the disaster (Delaney and Shrader, 2000). Expanding this level of empowerment would bring about an immense paradigm shift in the region (ibid.).

2.4 Contextual Framework: Türkiye Earthquakes and Women Solidarity

Due to its geographical location, the natural disasters that affect Türkiye are mainly geophysical and meteorological disasters such as earthquakes, floods, frost, avalanches, snow, storms, landslides, rockfall, lightning, heavy rain, drought, and fog (Ergünay, 2007). However, in Türkiye the natural hazard that is experienced the most frequently while also having the largest destructive impacts are earthquakes. The country is located between two continents and three major plates, resulting in it experiencing major seismic events. The North Anatolian Fault passes through the Sea of Marmara, making Istanbul very susceptible to earthquakes. The 17 August 1999 earthquake in Izmit/Golcuk, also called the Marmara earthquake, was a turning point in Türkiye's history. The initial shock, lasting less than a minute and measuring 7.4 in magnitude, was succeeded by two moderate aftershocks. More than 17,000 people died, and an estimated 500,000 were left homeless as thousands of buildings collapsed or were heavily damaged. The affected region in these earthquakes had a share of 35% of Türkiye's GDP, indicating the significance of earthquake risk to the country's development (Gencer, 2013).

During the recovery phase of the 1999 earthquake, the participation and role of women in community-based projects and activities was particularly noteworthy. The effectiveness of civil society organizations was emphasized, with Jalali (2002) describing disasters as a political event that challenged the sovereignty of institutional powers (Jalali, 2002, p. 136). KEDV, a grassroots NGO founded by women, emerged after the 1999 earthquake in Türkiye. Recognizing the pivotal role of women in disaster relief, KEDV collaborated with local stakeholders to establish centers in tent cities where women could gather, share resources, and support each other. These centers evolved into hubs for income-generating activities, fostering women's empowerment (KEDV, 2019). KEDV's Resilient Neighborhood Program, initiated after the earthquake, aims to empower women and their communities in disaster preparedness and local development, fostering women's participation in these processes (KEDV website).

Studies conducted after this earthquake noted that solidarity networks in Golcuk had significant benefits for women during the disaster recovery. Ganapati and Uichi (2012) use Golcuk as a case study to show how solidarity mattered for women after the earthquake. Women's cooperatives organized, producing candles and tailored goods, which helped women to overcome their psychological trauma as it kept them busy while being productive and contributing economically to their families. In fact, Ganapati and Uichi (2012) reveal that this helped women better express themselves in their households and in their larger social contexts, it helped women gain "civic consciousness", thereby allowing them to fight for their rights in Türkiye's patriarchal society. Patriarchy refers to: 'A particular complex web of both attitudes and relationships that position women and men, girls and boys in distinct and unequal categories, that value particular forms of masculinity over virtually all forms of femininity, and that ensure that men who fulfill these favored forms of manliness will be able to assert control over most women' (Enloe, 2017, p. 49). This study is important as it shows the impact of women's solidarity networks beyond the immediate disaster recovery phase.

Despite the significant impact of the Marmara earthquakes, in Türkiye, there remains a lack of studies and policies examining these events through a gender lens. Particularly noteworthy is the absence of any reference to "woman," "women," or "girls" within the Turkish Disaster Response Plan², first released in 2014 and revised in 2022. This highlights the gender-blind

-

² AFAD (2022) Türkiye Afet Müdahale Planı (Turkish Disaster Response Plan). Available at: https://www.afad.gov.tr/Türkiye-afet-mudahale-plani

nature of Türkiye's disaster response strategy, which was reflected in the response to the 6 February 2023 earthquakes.

2.5 Case Study: 6 February 2023 Earthquakes

On February 6, 2023, two earthquakes with their epicenter in Kahramanmaraş, with magnitudes of 7.7 and 7.6, hit both Türkiye and Syria. It was the second-strongest earthquake to occur in Türkiye in the past century, and it affected 11 big cities where more than 14 million people lived. Türkiye's official numbers indicated that 58,000 people died in the earthquake. In the aftermath, the government pledged to rebuild 650,000 homes within a year; however, only 15% of the homes were rebuilt, and in June of 2023, more than 670,000 people were still living in small, temporary, metal container homes (Bebek, 2024).

The gendered nature of natural disasters was observed in the disaster-stricken towns, with women being disproportionately affected during the rehabilitation and recovery phase. Even though studies show women's susceptibility to harm during and in the aftermath of natural disasters due to socially constructed gender-specific disadvantages, relief efforts were gender-blind. Due to Türkiye being a patriarchal society, the gender roles naturally led women to care for family members, cooking, cleaning, and being trapped in care work, which led to women struggling to find time for anything else. The unpaid domestic labor became an even heavier burden during times of crisis, with NGOs active in the regions reporting that women and girls still face a huge burden of care work, emotional stress, poverty, health problems, and most importantly, violence (Karademir, 2023). The Turkish NGO Equality for Women (EŞİK) Platform noted in their report that single women, divorced women, and women who experienced violence and wished to live separately from their husbands did not receive their own tents after the earthquake (EŞİK, 2023). This caused increased violence, one example being that a divorced woman had to share her tent with her ex-husband, who assaulted her with boiling water while she slept (ibid.).

Six months after the earthquake, research in the earthquake-stricken locations showed alarming struggles for women and girls. Due to the lack of hospitals, disruptions in health services, water shortages, and hygiene issues in the earthquake zone, there were serious problems concerning

women's health. Women's organizations had to organize campaigns to voice the need for sanitary pads. In this context, the needs arising from being a woman were forgotten or overlooked by the government (Ayata et al., 2023). Sexual violence, especially by husbands, was common, as women were forced into sexual intercourse and had difficulty accessing contraceptives (EMEK, 2023). The increased care work and responsibilities that women have caused them to develop physical and psychological health problems. During all these difficult conditions, earthquake survivor women were also left with the "task" of recovering the deteriorating mental health of their family members who suffer from psychological problems (ibid.).

Soon after the 6 February earthquakes, Turkish women from other parts of the country came together to offer support. Grassroots feminist organizations and feminist solidarity groups were fast to act, providing crucial aid and relief to those impacted by the disaster. Apart from providing hygiene items to women, they also worked in creating women-exclusive tents, a secure environment exclusively for women survivors to gather, enjoy tea, have discussions about various topics, and exchange earthquake experiences (Bajec, 2023). Research shows that women's solidarity groups are beneficial for women's mental health. Women experience physiological, psychological, economic, or social improvement after joining such groups (Koegler et al., 2019). Women have higher social solidarity among themselves compared to men as they interact with other members more, share more, and the solidarity and unity among women members give them a platform to share problems and seek help (Galab and Rao, 2003). Collectively resisting social injustice and caring for each other cultivates solidarity in communities and generates emotional support for members (Knearem et al., 2024). This further highlights the critical nature of feminist solidarity initiatives, particularly in the disasterstricken town with women having lower socioeconomic status and high rates of gender-based violence. Feminist Solidarity for Disaster Relief, formed on the night of February 6th by women, highlighted in their studies that disasters were moments where women's solidarity and access to learning from each other's experiences helped to turn experience into knowledge, which was necessary to render women's rights, demands and struggles visible, to avoid exacerbating the disaster's harmful effects on women (Baytok, 2023). Women's empowerment in the post-disaster reconstruction phase could only be possible if women were empowered to talk about rights, properties, livelihood, and access to resources, and if they do not express their needs and views, then NGOs and government organizations will not succeed in developing them (Thurairajah and Baldry, 2010). Therefore, women's solidarity groups are vital in making women's voices heard.

3. Theoretical Framework

This thesis aims to apply social vulnerability concepts through an intersectional lens and feminist political ecology (FPE) to share women's gendered struggles after the earthquake and account for women's empowerment through solidarity.

3.1 Social Vulnerability with an Intersectional Lens

Vulnerability is the 'human dimension' of disasters, and it refers to the attributes of an individual or a collective and their circumstances that determine their ability to predict, manage, withstand, and recover from the consequences of a natural disaster (Wisner et al., 2004). The concept encompasses various elements that define the extent to which an individual's life, livelihood, property, and other possessions are exposed to the potential harm caused by a specific and identifiable occurrence or a sequence of such occurrences in both the natural and social realms (ibid.). Vulnerability has three key dimensions: (1) susceptibility, (2) (lack of) coping capacity, and (3) exposure. UNDRR's platform PreventionWeb (2017) explains these three dimensions as follows:

- Exposure refers to the possibility that a hazardous event would damage human settlements and the surrounding environment because of their proximity to the phenomenon's sphere of effect and the absence of physical resistance.
- Susceptibility refers to the inherent tendency of ecosystems and societies to suffer damage due to the relative weaknesses and vulnerabilities of human settlements, as well as unfavorable conditions and conditions encompassing physical, ecological, social, economic, cultural, and institutional aspects.
- Lack of coping capacity is the limitations in access to and mobilization of the resources of the social-ecological system and the incapacity to respond in absorbing the impact.

It is not possible to analyze the vulnerability and capacity of society in the face of a disaster in an accurate manner without taking gender into account. The concept of gender draws attention to socially constructed characteristics of men and women. This refers to the norms, roles and behaviors assigned to the sexes in the society in which they live. Gender identity impacts our lives, and it shapes people's behaviors in disasters. Drawing from Enarson's (2000) examples, the first dimension of vulnerability, exposure, here refers to the risk that exposes them to hazards, such as living in a seismic zone or in a building at risk of collapsing. This is related to poverty, but in the context of the 6th February earthquakes in Türkiye, even newly built expensive buildings were destroyed³. This also ties in with the second vulnerability, showing that the cities did not have the capacity to mitigate the effects of the earthquake (for example, seismic-zone construction standards, earthquake preparedness programs). Finally, the last dimension of vulnerability, "lack of coping capacities," refers to social vulnerability. It indicates that certain groups have less access to essential resources that would help them respond to natural disasters, including but not limited to income, education, health, and social networks. The access to resources and control over assets may exhibit gender disparities since women and girls typically have lower levels of access and control compared to males and boys (Bradshaw and Fordham, 2014).

Studies have indicated the importance of gender in disaster research (Enarson, 2000; Forthergill, 1996; Neumayer and Plümper, 2007) As emphasized in the literature review section, women are more 'vulnerable' in the face of disaster. Women are disproportionately more affected by disasters than men; in the aftermath of disasters, women are more vulnerable than men, and they are more susceptible to mental and physical exhaustion due to increased responsibilities. Natural disasters, including earthquakes, reinforce vulnerability and "exacerbate existing patterns of gender discrimination that render females more vulnerable to the fatal impact of disasters" (Neumayer and Plümper, 2007).

This thesis uses social vulnerability through an intersectionality lens to understand women's experiences, as the concept of vulnerability lacks stability and consensus in terms of the indicators that contribute to its classification (Gomes and Martinho, 2021). Women who are at the intersection of multiple vulnerabilities are disproportionately affected by earthquakes. Intersectionality is a framework that was created through Crenshaw's (1989) work that stresses the importance of attending to multiple, intersecting identities (e.g., race, gender, class, sexual

-

³ BBC (2023) Turkey earthquake: Why did so many buildings collapse? Available at: https://www.bbc.com/news/64568826

identity) and the associated systems of power and oppression. Crenshaw (1989) argues that intersecting systems of oppression create unique experiences of marginalization and privilege. Human experience is jointly shaped by multiple social positions and cannot be adequately understood by considering social positions independently (Bauer et al., 2021). This underscores the importance of considering multiple axes of identity in disaster research and response efforts. In the context of disasters, social characteristics such as gender, age, physical and mental health status, occupation, marital status, sexuality, race, ethnicity, religion, and immigration status may have a bearing on potential loss, injury, or death; it could also impact the prospects and processes for changing that situation (Wisner et al., 2012).

Intersectional approaches help analyze and critique discriminatory practices that disproportionately impact historically marginalized people, particularly in disasters. They emphasize the interplay of privilege, power, and oppression, creating unequal socioeconomic outcomes based on identities and conditions. This approach is beneficial in disaster studies as it highlights systemic patterns that create precarious situations for some while protecting others; it also helps understand individuals' capacities to prepare for, respond to, and recover from disasters, as well as their ability to avoid or reduce risks that make them susceptible to disaster (Jean et al., 2023). By considering intersecting factors such as class, ethnicity, marital status, disability status, and socio-economic status alongside gender, I aim to provide an understanding of how various social identities intersect to shape women's experiences in post-earthquake contexts.

3.2 Feminist Political Ecology

As gender plays an important role in how disaster and post-disaster are experienced, feminist theorists have also become involved in disaster studies. Enarson (2012, p. 26) describes that a "grand theory" of gender and disaster is not possible, which could be interpreted as there being no theory that encompasses all aspects of gender and disaster. However, Enarson and Phillips (2000) note that feminist political ecology (hereafter, FPE) "most clearly joins gender inequalities, environmental degradation, and disaster vulnerability".

FPE began with the critique of mainstream political ecology's neglect of gender differences in human-environment relations. Rocheleau et al. (1996) established the FPE as a feminist approach to political ecology, where gender becomes a main category analysis in relation to

understanding how decision-making practices and socio-political forces influence environmental laws and issues, alongside access to and control over resources. FPE treats gender as an important variable that interacts with class, race, and other factors to shape processes of ecological change (Rocheleau et al., 1996, p. 4). It pays attention to gender roles, gender inequalities and patriarchy as they intersect with class dynamics in determining access to resources (Paulson and Gezon, 2015). It also points to gender inequalities leading to reduced rights for women to own land and gain access to energy, water, and sanitation facilities, all of which have a negative impact on human health, the environment, and sustainable development (Harcourt, 2023). Key research themes are (1) "gendered knowledge," (2) "gendered environmental rights and responsibilities," and (3) "gendered environmental politics and grassroots activism (Rocheleau et al., 1996, p. 6).

I believe using an FPE lens will be useful in analyzing women's solidarity. Women's empowerment and acknowledgment of women's agency remain a key focus of the FPE scholarship. 'Agency' is a key concept in feminist theory. However, it has different meanings according to the context, and it is noted that agency is inseparable from the analysis of power (McNay, 2016). Agency is defined as what a person is free to do and achieve in pursuit of whatever goals or values he or she regards as important (Sen, 1985, p. 203), and it involves the meaning, motivation, and purpose that individuals bring to their activity, their sense of agency, or 'the power within' (Kabeer, 1999, p. 3). Agency invokes an ability to overcome barriers, to question or confront situations of oppression and deprivation, and, as individuals or together with others, to have influence and be heard in society (Hanmer and Klugman, 2016).

Disaster studies demonstrate that women possess a diverse array of characteristics that make women valuable contributors across all stages of disaster management. Their unique knowledge, skills, expertise, and experiences play a crucial role in effectively dealing with the aftermath of disasters. In my thesis, FPE will help me analyze women's position in gendered power relationships within their community in a post-disaster context, particularly those related to (1) women's access and rights to resources, including natural resources and (2) women's solidarity and empowerment within their households and communities.

4. Methodology

To respond to the research questions, this study draws mainly on FPE and the social vulnerability concept with an intersectionality lens and uses a feminist methodology. It aims to describe the Turkish women's experiences after the earthquake, the gendered impact of the natural disaster that they experienced, women's solidarity, and how it impacted local community resilience and recovery. Considering the topic is heavily focused on experiences, I chose qualitative methods and conducted fieldwork in Istanbul, Türkiye, with the interviews taking place through online video calls. The data was collected through semi-structured indepth interviews and analyzed by thematic analysis.

4.1 Feminist Research

Feminist methodology promotes integrating a perspective focused on women and gender into the research process, aiming to address issues through the lens of women's experiences. In the process of knowledge production, feminist researchers have attempted to make connections between the idea of gender, gender equality, experience, and the reality of intersectional gender discrimination (Saeidzadeh, 2023). This thesis is feminist research in the way that it aims to give voice to Turkish women's experiences. In this regard, McHugh (2014) states that one goal of feminist research is to attend to the power dynamics in the conduct of research, to expose invisible or concealed power dynamics. Feminist research is a commitment to equality and social justice, focusing on the gendered, historical, and political processes involved in knowledge production, and it also strives to explore and illuminate the diversity of the experiences of women and other marginalized groups (Wilson, 2023). Feminist research integrates feminist principles throughout the entire process, from question development to data collection and analysis. It emphasizes collaborative, non-hierarchical, and reflexive approaches. Feminist researchers use various methods, including qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods. Letherby (2011) argues that the focus is not on the methods used but on the pursuit of feminist goals.

This study focuses on women's experiences after the earthquake in terms of how women gather and organize, using solidarity as a means of empowerment. Feminist solidarity is a cultural movement that resists women's socio-economic inequalities and patriarchal power; it unites

women in their refusal to accept sexism, misogyny, exploitation of women's labor, emotion, bodies, and physical and financial violence towards women (Wickström et al., 2021). It involves shared responsibility for others' lives, working with care and intimacy toward promoting social transformations through democratic engagement.

4.2 Data Collection Methods

4.2.1 Semi-Structured Interviews

For this thesis, I used qualitative data collection methods. In order to be able to dive deeply into the concepts discussed I chose the semi-structured interview methodology for its versatile and flexible nature (Magaldi and Berler, 2020). Semi-structured interviews offer insight into the individual experience, enabling the researcher to explore participants' narratives. It is sufficiently structured to address specific research topics while leaving space for participants to offer new meanings to the study focus (Galletta, 2013).

The semi-structured interviews require a certain level of previous knowledge of the research topics, which the researcher uses to prepare an interview guide. This guide provides a structure for the interview; however it is not necessary to follow it strictly. Instead, the researcher aims to learn more about the study topic by getting similar information from each participant and giving them ideas for what to talk about by using this interview guide (Gill et al., 2008).

I designed the semi-structured interview in Turkish, my native language, and translated it into English. The semi-structured interviews started with an introduction to the research. Then I asked the participant about their consent to participate in the interview. I followed this up with a question on if they consented to be recorded or me taking notes. The interview was divided into three parts in terms of themes; the first part included introductory questions, the second part included questions about the aftermath of the earthquake and what the participants had observed or experienced in terms of women survivors and women solidarity, third and final part included questions about what the participants anticipated would happen in the future. The interview guide can be found in the Appendix 1.

4.2.2 Sampling

For sampling, I used the "chain method" or "snowball sampling," which is a non-probability method of sampling that involves samples that are available to the researcher or are selected by the researcher (Naderifar et al., 2017). This method is efficient and cost-effective to access the research participants. The snowball sampling method I used was purposive in the way that through the literature review, I came across women's organization's research and publications, as well as women journalists who worked in the earthquake region for a certain period and published articles. I contacted them at first. The ones who replied and agreed to join the interview, provided me with the contact of their acquaintances who conducted similar work, whom I reached out to later to invite them to take part in my research. The snowball method provides the researcher with the opportunity to communicate better with the samples, as they are acquaintances of the first sample, and the first sample is linked to the researcher (Polit-O'Hara and Beck, 2006). In total, I had interviews with 9 key informants. Relevant information on interview participants can be found in Appendix 2.

4.2.3 Positionality Reflexivity and Ethical Considerations

As the researcher's positionality can impact all aspects and stages of the research (Holmes, 2020), it is important to conduct a self-assessment of my views and positions. As a Turkish feminist woman, the study context held personal significance for me. I have not experienced the 6 February 2023 earthquakes, and I have not visited the region personally post-earthquake. However, I was following the news closely at the time that it happened. This means that I already had background information and certain assumptions about the context before starting my work on this thesis. As Ritchie et al. (2013) suggest, all research will be influenced by the researcher, and there is no completely 'neutral' or 'objective' knowledge. Therefore, I aimed to achieve 'empathetic neutrality' (ibid.). I aimed to stay as neutral as possible and let the informants speak and lead, which was possible thanks to the semi-structured interview method employed. To prevent causing additional trauma to female earthquake survivors, I refrained from interviewing those who directly experienced the earthquake. I contacted civic organizations, non-governmental organizations, women's organizations, and journalists who agreed to participate in the interview. The interviews were conducted through online video calls. To ensure participant anonymity, the participants were numbered in the order that they were interviewed.

4.2.4 Limitations

There are some limitations to this research that should be taken into consideration. Firstly, the sample size is limited to only nine informants. Furthermore, within the interview sample, there exists a notable lack of representation of marginalized groups such as lesbian, trans, queer, and other sexually or gender diverse (LGBTQ+) women and migrant women, as none of the interview participants had worked with them directly. This reflects a shortcoming of the intersectional analysis in this thesis, which is essential for clarifying the complex interactions between different social identities and vulnerabilities.

Moreover, the snowball sampling strategy employed in the research could be subject to limitations, potentially affecting the generalizability of findings and restricting the depth of insights into the diverse experiences of marginalized communities. However, it must be noted that the intent of qualitative research is not to generalize, but to develop an in-depth and contextualized exploration of a central phenomenon (Creswell, 2005).

4.3 Thematic Analysis

For analyzing the qualitative data, I have used thematic analysis, which includes identifying patterns or themes within the dataset. I chose thematic analysis above other qualitative methods for its fit with the semi-structured interview method, which included open-ended questions, and the feminist research methodology, which aimed to give voice to women's experiences. Following the guidance of Braun and Clarke (2006), in the search for themes, I have looked for repetitions, metaphors and analogies, similarities, and differences. A theme captures something important about the data in relation to the research question and represents some level of patterned response or meaning within the data set (ibid.).

I used Bryman's (2015) and Braun and Clarke's (2006) guidance for assisting with thematic analysis. First, I transcribed the interviews, translated them into English from Turkish, and then I read through them carefully to increase familiarity. During this process I created initial codes about interesting findings, assigning relevant data to each code. Afterward, I gathered the codes and identified themes and subthemes. This process included reviewing the themes and checking

if they worked in relation to the quotes they were assigned to. The last stage involved refining the specifics for each theme and subthemes.

5. Findings and Analysis

This chapter presents the data gathered through semi-structured interviews conducted with journalists, NGO workers, and volunteers who had closely worked or were currently working with women in earthquake-stricken towns. The analysis focuses on the earthquake survivor women's experiences in container cities or tents, described by the informants as they had closely worked with them and observed them. In line with my research questions, first, I present the gendered experiences of earthquake survivor women, discussing the impact of traditional gender norms on women's experiences. Then, I look at how women's solidarity is expressed in post-earthquake contexts, the role of women's solidarity in empowering women and how that solidarity has impacted community resilience and recovery. I also identify the factors positively or negatively affecting women's solidarity. Taking an intersectionality approach, it aims to reveal women's various experiences and struggles based on their marital status⁴, disability status, ethnicity in post-disaster contexts, and how the women's solidarity impacted their empowerment. Finally, looking at it from the lens of a future development practitioner, it also aims to give insights into development aid strategies for sustainable development in earthquake-stricken areas.

5.1 Gendered Experiences of Earthquake Survivor Women

The two earthquakes, with magnitudes of 7.8 and 7.5, affected the provinces of Adıyaman, Hatay, Kahramanmaraş, Kilis, Osmaniye, Gaziantep, Malatya, Şanlıurfa, Diyarbakır, Elazığ and Adana in Southern and Southeastern Türkiye on 6 February 2023. The key informants had visited and worked specifically in Malatya (1) and Hatay (8). Disasters exacerbate pre-existing inequalities in areas such as education, income, gender, ability/disability, and social status (Dominey-Howes, 2021). Türkiye struggles with gender inequality; in fact, Türkiye ranked 129th among 146 countries in the World Economic Forum's (WEF) Global Gender Inequality

⁴ Marital status is important in Turkish societal and cultural context as widowed, divorced or separated women have the highest representation among women who are exposed to violence (Adak et al., 2021)

Index for 2023⁵. The implications of this gender inequality were reflected in the everyday life of men and women even prior to the earthquake; however, the consensus of key informants was that there was no location-specific gender inequality, meaning that women in a specific city did not experience more gender inequality than the other cities. Especially Hatay, where most of the key informants had worked, noted that it was a very diverse city with various ethnicities and religions, which resulted in multiple languages spoken, such as Turkish, Kurdish, and Arabic.

This diverse population meant that each group had its own traditions in terms of gender inequality and women's participation in the workforce; however, the consensus, as described by all key informants, was the fact that women were present in many areas of the workforce including men-dominated ones such as drivers of public transportation, and women cooperatives were very active. That being said, the women's labor force participation rate in the affected region was still lower than the rate in Türkiye as a whole⁶.

The care work duties were the most noticeable inequality between men and women. With Türkiye's gender inequality, the household duties largely fell on the women with the men being expected to provide for their families, and this was also observed in Hatay, with women being responsible for providing care work in the house. There was also the fact that Hatay did not have many business opportunities, with (P4) describing that in Hatay, many men left the city for work and left their wives with her or his mother, along with the children, which resulted in lesser women participating in the workforce and instead staying home to care for their children and parents.

Women's high vulnerability to disasters, their likelihood of suffering material damage and /or physical harm, and their capacity to recover from the disaster are influenced by gender roles and norms and unequal access to power and resources (Horton, 2012). In Türkiye, in the aftermath of the two large earthquakes, women survivors' experiences, as described by the

⁵ World Economic Forum (2023) Global Gender Gap Report 2023. Available at: https://www.weforum.org/publications/global-gender-gap-report-2023/

⁶ UN Women (2023) Brief on Earthquakes in Türkiye: Impacts and Priorities for Women and Girls: Available at: https://eca.unwomen.org/sites/default/files/2023-03/UN%20Women%20Brief%20on%20Earthquake%20in%20Türkiye%20Gendered%20impacts%20and%20response 0.pdf

informants, were influenced by intersecting factors such as age, ethnicity, socio-economic status, marital status, and disability, with the common agreement being that women faced a disproportionate level of challenges and burdens.

In the aftermath of the earthquakes, temporary settlements in the form of container or tent cities were set up by municipalities for those whose homes were destroyed. Informants described that "the container cities were crowded, the living quarters were in close proximity to each other, and there was no feeling of security". This living situation resulted in various challenges for the women earthquake survivors, leaving them vulnerable to harassment, violence, illnesses, and mental distress. Recovery and reconstruction can also leave displaced women and girls in inadequately designed camps and shelters where they are at heightened risk of experiencing violence (Thurston et al., 2021).

Interview participants (P1, P4, P6) noted how recently divorced women whose court processes were ongoing at the time of the earthquake were assigned to the same tent or container as their ex-husbands by the municipality as their surnames had not changed yet. In some cases where the ex-husband was violent, women were stuck in the small living spaces with their assailants. There were also cases of single adult women or widowed women whose husbands passed away in the earthquake, living alone in the containers, resulting in feelings of unsafety and being afraid of harassment.

Many studies have explained the physical violence committed against women by both known and unknown men during catastrophic times, such as changes in partner dynamics during extreme situations, the use of aggressive solutions during times of crisis, stress brought on by the destruction of homes and livelihoods, frustration from unemployment and low income, extended stays in shelters, inadequate or compromised support systems, and trauma (Kinnvall and Rydstrom, 2019, p. 9). Due to gender-based social conditioning, men and boys who had not developed the skills of domestic chores and caregiving could be largely isolated after disasters, which could increase violent tendencies due to the lack of coping mechanisms (Ariyabandu, 2009). This is fitting with (P6)'s description, noting that men were unemployed, stuck in the container/tent cities, and unable to cope with their grief and handle their trauma. During crises, such violence exploits existing gender inequalities and power imbalances, perpetuated by structural violence and disaster-related stressors can exacerbate this violence,

leading both first-time and habitual abusers to commit acts of violence (Nguyen and Rydstrom, 2018). Despite there being cases of women being subjected to sexual or physical violence in the container and tent cities, there were no courthouses or police stations left in Hatay, as the whole city was destroyed. Even if they were intact, there was no public transportation available for women to visit local authorities and report abuse. This shows that there was an oversight from the local authorities in terms of securing the safety of women and taking measures against gender-based violence.

Adding to the gendered vulnerability of the living quarters was the fact that the bathroom and shower facilities were in one common area in the container/tent city, causing feelings of unsafety to women, especially young women and mothers with young children feeling at risk of harassment. It has been studied that such living places can also put women at heightened risk of experiencing health risks due to poor sanitary conditions (Fulu, 2007). (P8) described that in Hatay container city, at night, women avoided going to the bathroom and did not allow their children to go alone. This coping mechanism of avoiding public bathroom facilities made women and children more vulnerable to health problems.

"The conditions of the living quarters cause women to feel uneasy. Going to the bathroom is an activity that should not make them feel uneasy, but women get nervous if they need to go at night since there is not enough lighting and security, and if the bathroom is far away from their tent, they fear the time it takes to walk there." - (P8)

From a social vulnerability perspective, a lack of adequate consideration for women's needs (including health) increases women's vulnerability factor (Masselot, 2022). In the context of this study, it was found that women and girls also faced challenges in accessing essential resources such as menstruation products and contraceptives, as these items were not seen as 'essential'. Since menstruation is still considered taboo in some locations, women were unable to express their need for sanitary pads and clean underwear from young soldiers who were primarily responsible for distributing aid. It was noted by multiple informants that, as the public bathroom facilities lacked hygiene, and as these personal hygiene items for women were not easily available, it raised health concerns, adding to the already challenging situation. Studies note that sanitary supplies and privacy for menstruating women are rarely available in post-

disaster settings due to constraints on resources or a gender-neutral approach to disaster response (Tearne et al., 2021).

"In the field, women often requested menstrual products when we asked about their needs. Women may not be able to tell a 19-year-old male soldier that they need underwear; even if women don't ask, this should be delivered to them. We saw cases of male authorities yelling, saying, 'You did not request menstrual pads, so we do not have pads for you!'" - (P6)

Enarson (2007) draws on feminist theories of inequality and labor to note that gender norms and structural inequalities shape the allocation of disaster-related tasks and responsibilities within households and communities. Meanwhile, looking at it from a social vulnerability lens, Masselot (2022) notes that women's vulnerability is shaped by the patriarchal structure. In a disaster context, the care work and reproductive labor, such as caring for children and the elderly, cleaning the house, and cooking, are assigned to women and place additional burdens on their shoulders. This was also the case in Türkiye.

"The unpaid care burden of women increased tremendously... Their houses may have been destroyed, but it was still up to women to cook, wash dishes, and take care of the children in the tent. Instead of experiencing their own trauma, women gave all their attention to their children. They also took on the burden of caring for the wounded, sick, bedridden, elderly people." - (P6)

Enarson (2012) states that in post-disaster contexts, the gendered division of labor leads to women having multiple responsibilities, such as social reproductive labor referring to the unpaid work and responsibilities involved in sustaining and reproducing society, particularly through caring directly for oneself and others (childcare, elder care, healthcare), maintaining physical spaces and organizing resources as part of an indirect process of care for oneself and others (Hester and Snircek, 2017).

In Türkiye, due to the patriarchal society resulting in a gendered division of labor, women took on most domestic and caregiving duties while men are less engaged in these activities. (P8), from the organization 'Women's Human Rights' providing mental health support to earthquake

survivors described that even earthquake survivors whose houses were intact had to host relatives who lost their houses, which again resulted in women's burden of care increasing as they found themselves cleaning, cooking, and caring for the elderly and disabled.

Informants described that women became the 'organizer' or 'leader' of their households, keeping the family together. This was a role that they had unconsciously taken, with some informants noting that this was due to the "natural maternal instinct of women" and "women's ability to adjust and adapt". All interviewed informants described that, as a result of the traditional caregiving roles and responsibilities, women took the responsibility of taking care of the family members and living headquarters, making extreme efforts to adjust to the new conditions of life. An evident indicator of gender inequality regarding gendered division of labor can be seen in the comment of one civil society member (P1) interviewed:

"Textbooks and storybooks have consistently shown women doing housework, cooking, and taking care of children. A lot of women accept the care work duties as the norm. At times of crisis, such as the aftermath of an earthquake when survival is crucial, both men and women embrace the mentality of "everyone should do what they do best." Traditionally, women are seen as best suited for maintaining household order and caring for family members. Female bird builds the nest, after all. Thus, women assume this responsibility unquestioningly." - (P1)

Women did not hesitate to take the role of 'provider' to be able to meet their family's needs. As one NGO informant recounted, the mothers of the families persisted in seeking essential items such as diapers for their children despite the absence of adequate provisions, while their husbands remained sidelined, unable, or unwilling to assert their needs in a landscape overshadowed by the dominance of gender norms.

"At the aid distribution points, the woman asks for diapers for her child, and her husband watches from a distance because he can no longer meet his family's needs as the father of the family. Women do everything to keep their families afloat. Women adapted very fast." - (P2)

Women have been observed to have a higher risk of developing posttraumatic stress symptoms after a disaster compared to men (Yazawa et al., 2022). However, as informants described, women shouldering the burden of caregiving and household management resulted in them being unable to experience and express their trauma. Consequently, women neglected their own fundamental needs (Walia, 2015). (P6), from 'We Need to Talk' NGO in Türkiye working on fighting against period poverty and menstruation stigma, described that while they were visiting the container/tent cities and providing menstruation kits, they asked women about their menstrual cycles. Thinking about their menstrual cycle led to women checking in on their bodies and focusing on themselves, which was a rare opportunity. As a result of this simple question, (P6) recounted that women would get the chance to reflect upon their needs.

There are various intersectional challenges faced by certain groups, including women with disabilities and migrants. These survivors had to navigate through layers of discrimination and exclusion. According to UNDP⁷, as many as 70 percent of injured earthquake survivors are expected to have a disability. Disaster research has found that women with disabilities encounter gender-specific marginalization, as stereotypes historically depicting women as weak, naive, passive, and dependent are magnified for this group, leading to their social invisibility (Gartrell et al., 2020). The social enterprise focused on redesigning accessibility experiences for people with disabilities 'Erişilebilir Her Şey' (Everything Accessible) was one of the entities providing support in the post-earthquake context. (P7), from 'Erişilebilir Her Şey', described that people with disabilities grappled with multiple layers of trauma, and women with disabilities experienced a more severe level of marginalization. She noted that as they provided training in the field to help individuals who had become disabled after the earthquake, they saw that women tried to accept their new situation and adapt quickly and had started looking for solutions and coping mechanisms.

"There was acceptance in women, and immediately they started to ponder, 'I don't have a leg, but I have children, and I have to take care of them'. Women's workload increased, and we had cases where they said, 'I'm in a container; I don't know how I'm going to clean it with one arm only.' The fact that a woman is disabled increases her

⁷ UNDP (2023) Recovery and Reconstruction after the 2023 Earthquakes in Türkiye, UNDP offer and proposed projects. Available at: https://www.undp.org/Türkiye/publications/recovery-and-reconstruction-after-2023-earthquakes-Türkiye-undp-project-catalogue

challenges. She says she must go shopping, she must cook, but she can't do any of it." - (P7)

Migrants face multidimensional challenges in times of disaster, and these challenges include language barriers, lack of access to information, limited social networks, substandard living, and discrimination⁸. Approximately 1.7 million Syrian migrants live in the provinces affected by the earthquake⁹. There are numerous studies that have researched discrimination against Syrian migrants in Türkiye prior to the earthquake (Alp, 2018; Tümtaş, 2018, Çoksan and Özkan, 2024) however there is a limited number of studies addressing the problems or discrimination experienced by Syrian migrants, more specifically Syrian women, after the earthquake. Ekici's study (2024) found that after the earthquake, Turkish citizens were given priority in shelter assistance and in aid distribution, which migrants saw as discrimination. Syrian migrants reported experiencing hate speech and exclusion from essential services, especially when they did not speak Turkish (ibid.).

Among the informants interviewed, only two NGO representatives had worked with migrants in the earthquake locations, and they noted that the women migrants who experienced the earthquake faced discrimination. (P6) described that Syrian women were accused of being 'dirty' and were also, at times, subject to humiliation during aid distributions. Due to the prejudice and discrimination, Syrian earthquake survivors were marginalized, and being 'women' created an additional layer of vulnerability for them.

"Syrian women said "We are not dirty, we know hygiene. During aid distribution, I was yelled at while taking an extra for my neighbor"." - (P6)

"In the feminist tent, the common misconceptions about Syrians that were believed to be true were also perpetuated by Turkish women survivors. They believed the prejudice that Syrians steal, that they are dirty. Syrian women feel this discrimination." - (P8)

⁸ WHO (2023) Refugee and Migrant Health. Available at: https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/refugee-and-migrant-health (Accessed April 29, 2024)

⁹ Refugees Association (2024) Number of Syrians in Turkey January. Available at: https://multeciler.org.tr/Türkiyedeki-suriyeli-sayisi/ (Accessed March 16, 2023)

5.2 Women's Solidarity and Empowerment in Post-Disaster Recovery

Turkish society is described as a society with strong feelings of unity and solidarity, typical of traditional societies, with collective consciousness rather than individualism (Erdoğan, 2023). Immediately after the earthquakes, NGOs, and companies from other parts of Türkiye rushed to the earthquake locations to provide resources and support. The key informants interviewed in this study provided various types of support to earthquake survivors through their organizations: provision of mental health and psychosocial support, provision of vocational training to women, running a voluntary kitchen providing meals to survivors, provision of support and information sessions on menstruation and disabilities, provision of aid through the distribution of non-food items. Through these services, the key informants had the opportunity to interact with the survivors. They described that with the destruction and the loss of lives, all kinds of support and services were needed during the response phase. Afterward, during the recovery phase, the support shifted towards reconstruction, restoring livelihoods, and community development. In this phase, through the work of organizations providing spaces and means for women's empowerment and through the already existing platforms of local women, women's solidarity was expressed, resulting in economic and psychological empowerment of women, as well as community development. The following section will explain these processes.

In post-disaster contexts, women's multiple responsibilities are outlined as 'triple burden' outlined by Moser (1993) as being a reproductive role (related to domestic tasks and childbearing), a productive role (related to paid work), and a community managing role (unpaid volunteer work for the good of the community). In our case, women's reproductive role had increased exponentially right after the disaster, which was described in the previous section. Meanwhile, women's productive and community-managing roles started to become more apparent as the recovery and reconstruction phases started.

One such example of women's productive role was given by the informant (P1), who worked closely with the tailoring initiative led by a public education teacher who recognized the dire need for financial income among women in the aftermath of the disaster. That public education teacher mobilized resources and support through social media and started a project to encourage women to produce by providing them with the tools and materials needed. Through

initiatives of embroidering towels and crafting bags, women were able to access a source of income and regain a sense of purpose. Similarly, Borusan Holding¹⁰ prioritized psychosocial support and financial gain, and they initiated a bag-knitting project with the earthquake survivor women; the volunteers gathered and learned how to knit bags. These bags were then sold online to people all over Türkiye, establishing a sustainable source of income for women. The representative of this bag-knitting project (P2) described:

"We started with one woman first, then we invited others who could also knit. We asked for a certain number of bags from them to set them a goal. Then, they organized among themselves and started to prepare tea, coffee, and food while they were knitting together. They started to earn more than the minimum wage."

Creating opportunities for women to come together and simultaneously provide for themselves and their dependents while in each other's company is an important act of supporting the growth of feminist solidarity (Sweetman, 2013). At the time of the interview, Borusan Holding's initiative, represented by (P2), had 55 participating women, and they were receiving orders from big companies such as Halkbank, a bank in Türkiye. They were also learning how to embroider bags and make candles. (P2) described that through participating in this initiative, many women became the sole breadwinners in their homes, which gave them a sense of empowerment and agency.

"We have one mother participant whose son is studying medicine, and ever since she started, she has been sending money to her son, she is feeling very proud and happy. In the past, it was her husband who used to provide for their son. Now, it's her."

This quote also shows women's decision-making power regarding how they spend the money they earn, which is an essential domain of agency (Hanmer and Klugman, 2016).

Another similar initiative was described by (P5), a key informant who had started a basket-knitting workshop for women, which quickly turned into a livelihood and empowerment opportunity for them. She noted that once they gathered women who already knew how to knit

_

 $^{^{10}}$ Borusan Holding is an Istanbul-based group of companies operating in steel, distribution, energy and logistics in Türkiye and worldwide.

baskets and those who did not know but wanted to learn, they received the materials as donations from private companies, they taught each other how to knit baskets, and then (P5) as the founder of the workshop, searched for potential customers. Hotels and hospitals from all over Türkiye started to buy the baskets. She described,

"The women we had in our workshop had never earned money for their work before; they were housewives. About one and a half months later, they started earning money, and we saw that they created social media pages themselves to promote the baskets. Bringing income to the family, being able to take care of their family members, gave the women confidence and hope." -(P5)

While the creation of livelihood opportunities and sources of income was very important, similar to the other reported initiatives, women found this process empowering. Kabeer (2008) notes that women's agency leads to empowerment when it questions, challenges, or changes regressive norms that perpetuate the subordination of women. As (P5) described, in their workshops, there were women who had never worked before as they were housewives, and once they earned money, made decisions on how to spend the money and shared their strength and experience with each other by teaching each other skills, they realized what they were able to do.

As a result of women gathering in the workshop, teaching each other how to knit and creating social media pages to promote their products, they learned entrepreneurship as (5) reported that the workshop participants used some of their income to invest in themselves, "They bought separate materials, they started to produce other products, it was as if this workshop light the fuse and they were eager to continue." Sweetman (2013) notes that through economic activities done by women together as a group where the profits of larger scale production and joint marketing yield better returns than income-generating as individuals, an opportunity is created to work together, which will lead to collective actions to further women's strategic interests as a marginalized economic and social group. This was the case for (5)'s project, with women taking collective action among themselves to buy materials and invest in themselves to expand their business and earnings.

Women also took a community managing role, with a key informant (P4), who is a journalist, describing that women were eager to produce. She noted that there were a lot of cases of women doing what could be traditionally classified as 'men's work', such as carpentry. "There was an initiative of building wooden houses and most of the workers were women. These wooden houses that they built could be bought and donated, which provided income opportunities for earthquake survivor women." Other initiatives included private companies or NGOs opening bakeries, where earthquake survivor women gathered. They started to bake bread and send it to remote neighborhoods who needed it.

Agriculture is one of the main sectors in the earthquake regions, and almost all women employed in the agriculture sector work as unpaid family workers¹¹. Successive earthquakes have not only destroyed houses but also barns and wiped out livestock. Machinery and equipment used in agriculture were also damaged. One informant (P9) who works in an NGO focused on women's entrepreneurship explained that it was very important to focus on agriculture to revitalize the economy in the region.

"Women in rural areas in the earthquake-affected regions were involved in livestock farming, dairy production, fruit production, cotton farming, olive oil production, and the earthquakes interrupted their activities. However, since the agricultural lands and farms were not damaged, women farmers were looking for opportunities to get back to business." – (P9)

Feminist Political Ecology perspective emphasizes the agency of women in resource-dependent communities, and in this case, through FPE, attention is directed to rural women who had been involved in unpaid farming work and how they act in disaster situations with capacity and will (Kimura and Katano, 2014) As Hatay is a region famous for their local food products, some organizations provided the kitchens and materials for women who started producing pomegranate syrup, canned food, jam, pickles. (P4) described, "These women gathered naturally. They thought about what they could do. When the organizations visited

¹¹ UN Women (2023) Brief on Earthquakes in Türkiye: Impacts and Priorities for Women and Girls: Available at: https://eca.unwomen.org/sites/default/files/2023-

^{03/}UN%20Women%20Brief%20on%20Earthquake%20in%20Türkiye%20Gendered%20impacts%20and%20re sponse 0.pdf

them, they said that they could bake, they could cook, and once the right support was provided, women mobilized on their own."

Women cooperatives took an active role, starting initiatives and projects for the earthquake zone to ensure the continuation of production in the region, targeting women farmers. Indeed, (P9) expressed that there were financial support packages to women cooperatives, aiming to work with women as they acknowledged their increased vulnerabilities. As (P9) described, Halkbank conducted interviews with cooperatives in the region and found that women's cooperatives do not want to leave the regions where they operate, and they launched Women's Cooperatives Support Loan and KGF Guaranteed Women Entrepreneur Support Loan in the earthquake zone¹².

Apart from the acts of producing and creating, women's solidarity also emerged in feminist tents that were created. These tents were created by feminist organizations with women and children in mind. (P8), whose organization put up a feminist tent in a container city in Hatay, explained that the tents were created as a space for women to gather and express their needs, a location where they felt 'safe'. From a feminist point of view, women gathering and being in groups offers an alternative social network for them which helps them break free from the dependence on traditional social structures such as family, marriage, and household roles (Sweetman, 2013). Through sharing their experiences and supporting each other, women can challenge their isolation, shed light on injustices, and raise hopes for transformative shifts in gender dynamics (ibid.).

"The feminist tent was created so that women could come and express their needs. Women felt safe there. They finish their caregiving work in the evening and come to the women's tent, where they chat and share stories. It is necessary to create a space where women can come together. They say it feels good to gather around and sit together." - (P8)

The creation of such spaces was also extremely important for people with disabilities. Gartrell et al. (2020) note that in the absence of formal support, women with disabilities have few

⁻

¹² Dunya (2023) Women producers in the earthquake zone will get back on their feet with Halkbank. Available at: https://www.dunya.com/sirketler/deprem-bolgesindeki-kadin-ureticiler-halkbank-ile-yeniden-ayaga-kalkacak-haberi-687678

choices but to rely upon the social capital of their households and neighbors for assistance. Therefore, it was very important to acknowledge the existence of women with disabilities and providing them with the support they needed. Another tent for women and children with disabilities was created, and (P7) explained that women who were in dire situations gathered in the tents; the solidarity they experienced improved their mental state and helped them overcome their trauma.

"Women who were disabled after the earthquake have a lot of challenges; they are waiting for a prosthesis, the prosthesis came, but it is not compatible with them... We gathered such women in the tents; they asked each other things such as 'When was yours cut off.' They started to talk about such a painful thing so easily, which helped them in their trauma." - (P7)

Feminist consciousness and solidarity can develop from providing acutely resource-poor women with opportunities to meet and evolve strategies for collective action (Sweetman, 2013). By providing women with disabilities the spaces to meet, (P7) described how they had started discussions about making Hatay more accessible and taking collective action with the municipality to ensure their needs were considered. "During the reconstruction phase, they want to ensure that urban areas are accessible to all disability groups. Women want cafes and public education centers to be accessible." She emphasized how these women's collective action can create a new Hatay that is much more disability-sensitive and accessible compared to how it was previously.

Local women's groups also played an important part in coordinating and mobilizing resources to support affected communities. (P6) explained that in Hatay, prior to the earthquake, there were women's groups that regularly organized meetups for socializing and they communicated through WhatsApp. After the earthquake, these WhatsApp groups served as an effective solidarity network. These groups offered a space where women can come together to share experiences, exchange information, and mobilize resources to address the needs of their communities. In fact, NGOs that arrived outside of Hatay, made use of these groups and leveraged women's knowledge of the community.

"Local women's groups were our contact point. They directed us to the right neighborhoods. These women-only WhatsApp groups turned into an effective solidarity network." - (P6)

Women solidarity groups played a vital role in post-disaster recovery efforts, as emphasized by all interview participants. Apart from producing and creating, earning income, and investing in themselves, their family, or their communities, women also raised hope and impacted their close ones. Women's solidarity groups had a direct positive impact on their empowerment. Through collective action, they felt a sense of empowerment that Kabeer (1994, p. 245) explains as follows:

"From a state of powerlessness that manifests itself in a feeling of "I cannot", empowerment contains an element of collective self-confidence that results in a feeling of "we can'."

Women who had not been able to work or provide for their families prior to the earthquake were able to earn income; women who had been stuck at home shouldering caregiving responsibilities had the opportunity to discover their talents and achieve a sustainable livelihood opportunity. Furthermore, the process of organizing in these groups became a learned skill. One key informant (P1), described that women learned how to take collective action, coming together to support one another and advocate for the communities' needs. Similar to that sentiment (P4) described that through the women groups, as women started to produce and create, they felt hopeful about the future, their mental health improved, and their self-confidence increased. (P4) expressed that through the women's solidarity groups and the empowerment that women achieved through their activities, ten women in ten neighborhoods of Samandağ in Hatay had decided to become candidates for mukhtarships. This is important as women are underrepresented in political decision-making in the affected provinces – only 2 out of 135 mayors (11 provincial and 124 districts) are women, and the ratio of women municipal councilors is around 10%¹³.

¹³ UN Women (2023) Brief on Earthquakes in Türkiye: Impacts and Priorities for Women and Girls: Available at: https://eca.unwomen.org/sites/default/files/2023-

 $[\]underline{03/UN\%20Women\%20Brief\%20on\%20Earthquake\%20in\%20T\ddot{u}rkiye\%20Gendered\%20impacts\%20and\%20re\underline{sponse}\underline{0.pdf}$

"This year, ten women in ten neighborhoods of Samandağ applied to become mukhtars, a campaign was launched for women to be involved in local government. The people of this region believe that women should stay home and take care of the household. Despite that, these women went out to the field and are working to become local leaders, and they are getting a very good reaction from the citizens." - (P4)

Supporting (P4)'s experiences, (P6) also noted that as a result of women's solidarity groups and their empowering effects, there was a noticeable increase in civil society awareness, with the number of women's cooperatives increasing in Hatay. (P6) believed that "Women's solidarity created a ripple effect." Local women groups got into contact with bigger NGOs and private companies, and women's small businesses recovered faster compared to men's as an outcome of women's willingness to start producing. Among these small businesses, (P6) recounted that women business owners in Hatay recruited fellow earthquake survivors and started offering hairdressing services, handicrafts, and preparing and selling homemade food. In one and a half months, they started marketing their products on social media to be able to reach more customers.

The empowerment of women and women's solidarity also had a positive ripple effect on their environment. The positive impact of their experiences was reflected in their close friends and family. (P5) described, "When the mother attended the workshop, her young daughter saw the work her mother was doing. It gave her hope as well. Their daughters also wanted to join, so we had mother-and-daughter sessions." It was reported that there was support from men of the family to women who started to become active in the women's groups. Even in regions where it was traditionally not acceptable for women to work or get out of their houses, men showed support. For women who were earning income, their husbands who had lost jobs offered to help their wives. For instance, key informants (P2) and (P5) who had organized sewing and knitting workshops mentioned that in their workshops, the husbands of the participants had also wanted to join and support their wives in any way they could. The interviews revealed that the traditional norms did not impact women's solidarity negatively as men were not against the idea of women taking on new roles.

The support from NGOs and private companies impacted women's solidarity positively. The safe gathering spaces were established for women, and the equipment, materials, and resources

that women needed to start producing were provided by the relevant NGOs or companies active in the area. Especially the partnerships between NGOs and private companies acting as donors were very effective in supporting women's solidarity, and empowerment. NGOs, especially feminist ones, conducted field research and identified the gender-specific needs, providing an opportunity for donors to invest in various initiatives such as providing menstruation products, contraception, mental health, and psychosocial support to women, creating women's tents, providing equipment, material, and vocational training to women.

Some local authorities, such as municipalities, also supported women's initiatives. (P3), a volunteer in the 'Heart Kitchen' women organization, which cooks meals for earthquake survivors, noted that the municipality supported them by sending vehicles and providing electricity, water, and heat for free. However, this was not the same in every municipality. The lack of adequate support by the government towards certain groups was another factor that negatively impacted women's solidarity. One key informant (P4) reported that as a journalist, she had interviews with small-business owner women who had applied to municipalities for support to be able to reopen their businesses, but their requests went unheard. They were able to get the support from NGOs instead.

The local governments' regulations and support were not adequate and often gender blind, which impacted women's solidarity and empowerment negatively, as they posed security and safety problems for women, putting them at risk of violence. For instance, the assignment of families into tents and containers was done based on surnames, which resulted in divorced women being assigned to live together with their ex-husbands. Key informants noted that the government offered temporary financial assistance to families, but it was allocated to the male head of household. This raised concerns about whether women and children received their fair share of the support, as the man had sole authority over withdrawing the funds meant for the entire family. In addition, people with disabilities were also overlooked, with the local authorities having no services targeting them. There was a lack of NGOs focusing on accessibility, and 'Erişilebilir Her Şey' (P7) noted that they had challenges reaching some locations to offer support as they could not obtain permission from the ministry.

"There was no data on how many women with disabilities there were, and there were no organizations working on accessibility. The state left people alone. For example, we could not reach the tent/container cities as you need the ministry's permission to provide services, and we did not get permission. We were unable to reach people there, and there were many NGOs who faced similar challenges." - (P7)

5.3 Development Aid Strategies

To respond to the fourth research question, taking a development practitioner lens, during the interviews, I also discussed policy implications and development aid strategies that NGOs and donors can take into consideration to support earthquake survivor women in Türkiye and beyond. The strategies offer opportunities in post-disaster recovery efforts with a particular focus on women's solidarity, empowerment, and sustainability.

As all nine informants were involved with NGOs or women's organizations, they highlighted the prevalence of temporary employment opportunities and the lack of sustainable, long-term income-generating activities. During the post-disaster context, many university graduates have been hired temporarily and then let go, contributing to economic instability in the region. This is also related to the lack of funding and resources, which impacts the ability of organizations to sustain their efforts over the long term. While initiatives such as vocational training and employment programs have been implemented, there is a need for more comprehensive strategies to ensure lasting economic stability and empowerment, especially for women. (P4) noted:

"In the initial stages, women cooperatives, NGOs, and civil organizations showed promise but are now striving to regain sustainability. Supporting women's business initiatives is essential for Hatay's recovery. Cooperatives require professional guidance to overcome challenges and expand their operations." (P4)

Informants also highlighted the importance of addressing the specific needs of vulnerable groups, including women, people with disabilities, and children, in post-disaster reconstruction efforts. (P8) called for greater government intervention and policy reform to address systemic issues such as gender inequality and resource scarcity.

"When rebuilding communities, it's essential to consider the diverse needs of women, the disabled, and children. Gender equality in public policies is crucial for women to fully participate in the workforce. However, current policies often place the burden of caregiving on women, reinforcing gender disparities. This highlights a systemic issue where the state shifts responsibility onto women, undermining efforts for gender equality." (P8)

To ensure that women's solidarity and empowerment are sustainable in the earthquake regions, it is necessary to make structural changes. Kabeer (2003, p. 175) notes:

"Individual empowerment is an important starting point for processes of social transformation, but unless it leads to some form of structural change, it will do little to undermine the systemic reproduction of inequality".

What (P8) called for and described is in line with Masselot (2022), noting that strongly embedding equality and care values in the legal framework of a country is likely to set the tone for actions and decisions in relation to disaster preparedness, planning, and management. She emphasized that raising gender equality in society represents the first step towards equality in disaster preparedness and mitigating the loss of life and harm to women. Informants, such as (P6), (P8), and (P9) noted the oversight from authorities, describing that gendered vulnerabilities were overlooked, with (P8) emphasizing the need for child-care centers in tents, container cities, noting that women's care work was accepted as the norm. Masselot (2022) also noted the challenges of applying a formal equality approach, highlighting that it often relies on male standards as the benchmark. She argued that male norms are not only considered the norm but are also perceived as neutral. Consequently, anti-discrimination measures frequently overlook structural factors that perpetuate disadvantages for vulnerable groups.

To summarize, development aid strategies to support earthquake survivor women in Türkiye and beyond describe the need for adequate funding and resources to create sustainable employment opportunities, ensuring long-term income for individuals rather than temporary contracts. Similarly, sustainable business models are necessary for women's cooperatives or organizations to ensure that their products are bought so that the women involved can have a sustainable income. Development aid organizations could prioritize grants and financial

support for grassroots initiatives, ensuring that resources are allocated effectively to meet the needs of vulnerable populations. They could provide support for women-led initiatives, such as food production and marketing projects, to ensure sustainability and growth.

Furthermore, to ensure social and structural changes that promote gender equality, social inclusion, and long-term development, reconstruction efforts should prioritize the needs of marginalized groups, including women, people with disabilities, and children. The establishment of safe spaces for women to gather, organize, and access resources is necessary. Development agencies could advocate for such policy changes and support initiatives by ensuring a bottom-up approach and involving local women in the discussions.

6. Discussion and Concluding Remarks

This thesis contributes to disaster studies by providing linkages between disaster and gender in the Türkiye context through women's solidarity and the role it plays in post-disaster recovery. Making use of social vulnerability concepts and feminist political ecology, the thesis investigated how gender shaped women's experiences in the aftermath of the 6th February earthquakes, how women expressed solidarity, the factors impacting this solidarity, and how women's solidarity impacted local community resilience and recovery. Based on the collected data, it also provided development aid strategies to support earthquake survivor women in Türkiye and beyond.

In answering the first question, the study finds that gendered division of labor and societal norms significantly influenced women's experiences post-earthquake in the Türkiye context: women faced disproportionate challenges due to increased caregiving responsibilities, inadequate facilities increased women's vulnerability to violence and health risks, and women with disabilities and migrants faced increased challenges including discrimination, limited access to resources, and increased risks of marginalization. These findings corroborate existing studies of gender and disaster.

In answering the second question, the findings reveal that women's solidarity emerged as a powerful force driving community resilience and recovery. Women's solidarity through livelihood projects enhanced their economic resilience and contributed to the local economy.

Women fostered a sense of collective agency, their solidarity extended to community managing roles and translated into increased political engagement and leadership roles, where women called for more inclusive governance. Local women's groups served as vital networks that strengthened community resilience by leveraging their knowledge, skills, and social capital to address the diverse needs arising from the disaster. In answering the third question, women's solidarity was impacted by various factors, including the level of government support, engagement of NGOs and private sectors, entrenched gender norms, and accessibility barriers. Finally, to answer the third research question, the thesis describes policy implications.

The thesis recognizes the need for additional research into the experiences of certain marginalized groups, such as women and girls with disabilities, sexually or gender diverse (LGBTQ+) women, and migrant women, during both the crisis and recovery phases of disasters. The unique challenges and vulnerabilities faced by these groups should be explored and analyzed to inform more inclusive disaster response and recovery.

Appendix 1

Table 1: Interview Guide

	T
Consent Form	Hello, my name is Melis, I am a student at Lund University,
	doing my master's in international development and
	management. I am currently conducting research for my
	thesis that focuses on women's gendered experiences,
	women's solidarity and how it impacts the community
	development, after 6 th February earthquakes. I would like to
	ask you questions on your experience and your observations.
	The information you provide will be anonymous, I will not
	provide your identity and I will only use this information for
	my thesis. In order to facilitate the discussion, I would like to
	take notes and record your audio. This discussion will not last
	more than one hour.
	Do you understand and consent to participate in this
	discussion?
Introductory Questions	1. I would like to start by getting to know you, what is your
Introductory Questions	1. I would like to start by getting to know you, what is your name, age and occupation?
Introductory Questions	
Introductory Questions	name, age and occupation?
Introductory Questions	name, age and occupation? 3. What are your thoughts about the social fabric in
Introductory Questions	name, age and occupation? 3. What are your thoughts about the social fabric in earthquake zones, either from your own experiences, from
Introductory Questions	name, age and occupation? 3. What are your thoughts about the social fabric in earthquake zones, either from your own experiences, from what you have read, from research you have done, etc. (For
Introductory Questions	name, age and occupation? 3. What are your thoughts about the social fabric in earthquake zones, either from your own experiences, from what you have read, from research you have done, etc. (For example, in terms of gender equality, women's employment
Introductory Questions	name, age and occupation? 3. What are your thoughts about the social fabric in earthquake zones, either from your own experiences, from what you have read, from research you have done, etc. (For example, in terms of gender equality, women's employment status, economic and educational level)
Introductory Questions	name, age and occupation? 3. What are your thoughts about the social fabric in earthquake zones, either from your own experiences, from what you have read, from research you have done, etc. (For example, in terms of gender equality, women's employment status, economic and educational level) 4. After the earthquakes of February 6, how long did you go
Introductory Questions	name, age and occupation? 3. What are your thoughts about the social fabric in earthquake zones, either from your own experiences, from what you have read, from research you have done, etc. (For example, in terms of gender equality, women's employment status, economic and educational level) 4. After the earthquakes of February 6, how long did you go to which of the cities where the earthquakes occurred? What
Introductory Questions	name, age and occupation? 3. What are your thoughts about the social fabric in earthquake zones, either from your own experiences, from what you have read, from research you have done, etc. (For example, in terms of gender equality, women's employment status, economic and educational level) 4. After the earthquakes of February 6, how long did you go to which of the cities where the earthquakes occurred? What was the purpose of your visit?
Introductory Questions	name, age and occupation? 3. What are your thoughts about the social fabric in earthquake zones, either from your own experiences, from what you have read, from research you have done, etc. (For example, in terms of gender equality, women's employment status, economic and educational level) 4. After the earthquakes of February 6, how long did you go to which of the cities where the earthquakes occurred? What was the purpose of your visit? 5. (if it was an aid organization) Have you participated in such
Introductory Questions	name, age and occupation? 3. What are your thoughts about the social fabric in earthquake zones, either from your own experiences, from what you have read, from research you have done, etc. (For example, in terms of gender equality, women's employment status, economic and educational level) 4. After the earthquakes of February 6, how long did you go to which of the cities where the earthquakes occurred? What was the purpose of your visit? 5. (if it was an aid organization) Have you participated in such aid organizations before?

Women's Experiences After the Earthquake

- 7. According to your observations, what did women earthquake survivors experience differently from men after February 6? Examples: in terms of safety, psychological aspects, responsibility...
- 9. Let's talk about post-earthquake recovery and community building activities. Survival, returning to life, attachment to life... within the scope of these processes:
- 9.1 What were the roles of women and men in this process (how was the care of the family, provision of food and other basic needs divided between men and women earthquake survivors?)
- 9.2 How do you think the Turkish family structure influenced behaviors in the aftermath of the earthquake?
- 10. To what extent do cultural and social norms influence women's participation and empowerment in disaster recovery?
- 11. 'Women's unity, women's solidarity' is a phenomenon often seen after natural disasters. In what ways have you seen women come together and show solidarity?
- 12. Let's talk about the mental health of women in this process. What were women's coping strategies in this highly stressful situation? What was the impact of women's solidarity here?
- 13. How did women's solidarity (e.g. the establishment of soup kitchens) emerge in such a crisis? How did this affect the women earthquake survivors who participated?
- 14. Can you describe the versions of women's solidarity that you have witnessed?
- 15. Have you been able to see the empowerment effects of the women involved in this women's solidarity?
- 16. What about how women organizing and engaging in various activities affected men?

	17. What were the positive or negative influences on women's solidarity (those who helped solidarity, or those who got in the way of women's solidarity)? 18. What was the impact of women's solidarity in the earthquake-stricken areas where they lived?
	19. What role did women's solidarity play in the development and recovery process of these regions?
Aftermath/The Future	19. Do you think this kind of solidarity and empowerment will influence patterns in post-disaster society (gender differences, equality, etc.)? 20. What is the long term impact of organizations mobilized by women? 21. What can the state, development organizations, both Turkish and foreign, do to support and assist the empowerment and solidarity of women earthquake survivors?

Appendix 2

Table 2: List of Participants

Participant	Occupation
P1	Civil society member
P2	Borusan Holding project representative
Р3	Volunteer in 'Heart Kitchen' organization
P4	Journalist
P5	Founder of women's workshop
P6	'We Need To Talk' NGO member
P7	'Erişilebilir Her Şey' (Everything Accessible) social entreprise member
P8	'Women's Human Rights' NGO member
P9	Women's Solidarity and Entrepreneurship NGO member

Bibliography

Alp, H. (2018). Suriyeli Siğinmacilara Yönelik Ayrimci Ve Ötekileştirici Söylemin Yerel Medyada Yeniden Üretilmesi. *Karadeniz Teknik Üniversitesi İletişim Araştırmaları Dergisi*, 8(1), 22-37.

Angell, E., (2014). Assembling disaster: Earthquakes and urban politics in Istanbul. *City*, 18:6, 667-678, DOI: 10.1080/13604813.2014.962881

Ariyabandu, M. (2003). Women: The risk managers in natural disasters.

Ariyabandu, M. (2009). Sex, gender and gender relations in disasters. *Women, Gender and Disaster: Global Issues and Initiatives*, (pp. 5-17). SAGE Publications India Pvt Ltd, https://doi.org/10.4135/9788132108078

Ayata, G., Kapdan, Ö., Ozan, Ö., Gürbüz, N., Onuk, B. (2023). Deprem Bölgesinde Kadın Olmak (Being a woman in the earthquake location). *Reflektif Journal of Social Sciences*, Vol. 4(1), 403-417. DOI: 10.47613/reflektif.2023.113

Bajec, A. (2023). 'Of course women and girls are affected more': Turkey's feminists lead the post-earthquake response to rebuild lives. Available at: https://www.newarab.com/features/turkeys-feminists-help-rebuild-lives-after-earthquake (Accessed: 12 April 2024)

Bauer, G.R., Churchill, S.M., Mahendran, M., Walwyn, C., Lizotte, D., Villa-Rueda, A.A. (2021). Intersectionality in quantitative research: A systematic review of its emergence and applications of theory and methods. *SSM Popul Health*. 14:100798. doi: 10.1016/j.ssmph.2021.100798. PMID: 33997247; PMCID: PMC8095182.

Baytok, C. (2023). The earthquake is not over yet. Available at: https://en.catlakzemin.com/the-earthquake-is-not-over-yet/ (Accessed: 10 March 2024)

Bebek, U. (2024). Türkiye earthquakes one year on: the devastation has exposed deep societal scars and women are bearing the brunt. Available at: https://www.preventionweb.net/news/turkiye-earthquakes-one-year-devastation-has-exposed-deep-societal-scars-and-women-are-bearing (Accessed 4 March 2024)

Birkmann, J., Hettige, S., Fernando, N. (2006). Measuring vulnerability in Sri Lanka at the local level. *Measuring vulnerability to natural hazards: Towards disaster resilient societies*, (pp. 329–356). United Nations University Press.

Bogardi, J. J., Fekete, A. (2018). Disaster-Related Resilience as Ability and Process: A Concept Guiding the Analysis of Response Behavior before, during and after Extreme Events. *American Journal of Climate Change*, 7(1), Article 1. https://doi.org/10.4236/ajcc.2018.71006

Bradshaw, S., Fordham, M. (2013). Women, girls and disasters: a review for DFID. Report produced for the Department for International Development, UK. Available at: https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/5dc13dc640f0b637a1443e63/withdrawn-women-girls-disasters.pdf (Accessed 4 February 2024)

Bradshaw, S., Fordham, M. (2014). Double disaster: disaster through a gender lens. Hazards, risks and disasters in society. *Hazards and disasters series*. Elsevier, London, pp 233–251

Bradshaw, S. (2001). Reconstructing Roles and Relations: Women's Participation in Reconstruction in Post-Mitch Nicaragua. *Gender and Development*, 9(3), 79–87.

Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 3(2), 77–101.

Bryman, A. (2015). Social Research Methods (5th ed.). Oxford University Press.

Bryson, V. (1992). Modern radical feminism: the theory of patriarchy. *Feminist Political Theoryi Women in Society*. Palgrave, London. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-349-22284-1 11

Code, L. (2000). Encyclopedia of feminist theories. Taylor & Francis Group.

Çoksan, S., Öner Özkan, B. (2024). Ortak Öteki Suriyeli: Sosyal Kimlik ve Gerçekçi Çatışma Bağlamında Suriyeli Mülteci Temsili. *Türk Psikoloji Dergisi*, 38(92), 103-128. https://doi.org/10.31828/turkpsikoloji.1352225

Crawford, G., Morrison, C. (2021). Community-Led Reconstruction, Social Inclusion and Participation in Post-earthquake Nepal. *Development Policy Review*, 39(4), 548–568.

Crawford, T., Chang, K. J., Nila, F., Subramaniam, P., Bethune, L., Parkinson, D., & Villeneuve, M. (2023). The Intersectionality of Gender, Sexual Identity, and Disability in Disaster Risk Reduction in OECD Countries: A Rapid Scoping Review. *Disabilities*, 3(4), 562–578. https://doi.org/10.3390/disabilities3040036

Crenshaw, K.W. (1998). 'Demarginalizing the intersection of race and sex: A Black Feminist critique of antidiscrimination doctrine, feminist theory, and antiracist politics,' in *Oxford University Press eBooks*, pp. 314–343. https://doi.org/10.1093/oso/9780198782063.003.0016.

Creswell, J.W. (2005). *Educational research: planning, conducting, and evaluating quantitative and qualitative research.*

Cupples, J. (2007). Gender and Hurricane Mitch: Reconstructing subjectivities after disaster. *Disasters*, 31(2), 155–175. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-7717.2007.01002.x

Cutter, S. L., Barnes, L., Berry, M., Burton, C., Evans, E., Tate, E., & Webb, J. (2008). A place-based model for understanding community resilience to natural disasters. *Global Environmental Change*, 18(4), 598–606. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2008.07.013

Daniel, C.A., Logie, C. (2017). Transactional Sex among Young Women in Post-Earthquake Haiti: Prevalence and Vulnerability to HIV. *Journal of Sociology*, 5(1), 54–67.

Delaney, P.L., Shrader, E. (2000). Gender and Post-Disaster Reconstruction: The Case of Hurricane Mitch in Honduras and Nicaragua. Report prepared for the World Bank. Available on line: www.anglia.ac.uk/geography/gdn.

Drolet, J., Dominelli, L., Alston, M., Ersing, R., Mathbor, G., and Wu, H., (2015). Women Rebuilding Lives Post-Disaster: Innovative Community Practices for Building Resilience and Promoting Sustainable Development. *Gender & Development* 23 (3): 433–48.

Dominey-Howes, D. (2021). You can't talk about disaster risk reduction without talking about inequality. Available at: https://www.preventionweb.net/news/you-cant-talk-about-disaster-risk-reduction-without-talking-about-inequality (Accessed: 10 April 2024)

Ekici, S. (2024). Deprem sonrası Suriyeli göçmenlerin yaşadıkları sorunlar. *Akademik Yaklaşımlar Dergisi*, *15(1)-Deprem Özel Sayısı*, 334-365.

Elmas N., Elmas, Ç., Kuşoğlu, G. C. (2021). Does Marital Status Affect Violence Against Women? A Perusal on Turkey. Süleyman Demirel Üniversitesi Fen-Edebiyat Fakültesi Sosyal Bilimler Dergisi (54), 149-164.

EMEK (2023). Labor Party announced the 6th month earthquake zone report: Danger bells ring for women's health. Available at: https://ekmekvegul.net/gundem/emek-partisi-6-ay-deprembolgesi-raporunu-acikladi-kadin-sagligi-acisindan-tehlike-canlari-caliyor (Accessed: 8 February 2024)

Enarson, E., Fothergill, A., Peek, L. (2007). Gender and disaster: foundations and directions. *Handbook of disaster research*. Springer, New York, pp 130–146

Enarson, E. (2000). Gender and natural disasters. ILO Working Papers 993439993402676, International Labour Organization.

Enarson, E. (2012). Women confronting natural disaster: From vulnerability to resilience. Lynne Rienner Publishers.

Enarson, E., Morrow, B.H. (1996). Hurricane Andrew Through Women's Eyes: Issues and Recommendations. *International Journal of Mass Emergencies and Disasters*, Vol. 14, pp.5-22

Enarson, E., Morrow, B.H. (1998). The Gendered Terrain of Disaster: Through Women 's Eyes. Edited by Elaine Enarson and Betty Hen Morrow, Westport CT: Praeger Press, 1998 xiii, 275 pp.

Enarson, E., Philipps, B. (2000). Invitation to a New Feminist Disaster Sociology. *Women and Disasters: From Theory to practice*. pp:41-75.

Enloe, C. (2017). The Big Push: Exposing and Challenging the Persistence of Patriarchy. Oakland: University of California Press

Erdoğan, B. (2023). Depremin Sosyolojisi: 6 Şubat Felaketinin Toplumsal ve Kültürel Boyutları. *TRT Akademi*, 8(18), 718-725. https://doi.org/10.37679/trta.1306900

Ergünay, O. (2007). Türkiye'nin afet profili. TMMOB afet sempozyumu bildiriler kitabi

EŞİK (2023). 6 Şubat 2023 Depremleri, Toplumsal Cinsiyet Eşitliği Bakış Açısından Geleceğe Notlar (February 6, 2023 Earthquakes, Notes for the Future from a Gender Equality Perspective).

Available at: https://esik.org.tr/s/2547/i/ESIK_DepremRaporu_TCE_BakisAcisindan_GelecegeNotlar.pdf (Accessed 4 March 2024)

EUR-Lex (2015). Linking relief, rehabilitation and development (LRRD). Available online at: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/EN/legal-content/summary/linking-relief-rehabilitation-and-development-lrrd.html (Accessed 2 March 2024)

Forthergill, A. (1996). Gender, Risk, and Disaster. *International Journal of Mass Emergencies & Disasters*, 14(1), 33-56. https://doi.org/10.1177/028072709601400103

Fulu, E. (2007). Gender, vulnerability, and the experts: responding to the Maldives Tsunami. *Dev Change*, 38:843–864

Galab, S., Rao, C.N. (2003). Women's self-help groups, poverty alleviation and employment. *Economic and Political Weekly*

Galletta, A. (2013). Mastering the semi-structured interview and beyond: From research design to analysis and publication. *New York University Press*. https://doi.org/10.18574/nyu/9780814732939.001.0001

Ganapati, N. E., Iuchi, K. (2012). In Good Company: Why Social Capital Matters for Women during Disaster Recovery. *Public Administration Review*, 72(3), 419–429.

Gartrell, A., Calgaro, E., Goddard, G., Saorath, N. (2020). Disaster experiences of women with disabilities: Barriers and opportunities for disability inclusive disaster risk reduction in Cambodia. *Global Environmental Change*, 64, 102134. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2020.102134

Gencer, E.A. (2013). The Making of a Disaster: Earthquake Hazard and Urban Development in Istanbul. In: The Interplay between Urban Development, Vulnerability, and Risk Management. *SpringerBriefs in Environment, Security, Development and Peace, vol* 7. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-642-29470-9 3

GFDRR (2018). Gender Equality and Women's Empowerment in Disaster Recovery. Available at: https://www.gfdrr.org/sites/default/files/publication/gender-equality-disaster-recovery.PDF

Gill, P., Stewart, K., Treasure, E., Chadwick, B. (2008). Methods of data collection in qualitative research: interviews and focus groups. *British Dental Journal*, 204(6), 291-295. DOI: 10.1038/bdj.2008.192

Gillian, W. (2023). Research made simple: An introduction to feminist research. *Evidence Based Nursing*, 26(3), 87. DOI: 10.1136/ebnurs-2023-103749

Gomes, M., Martinho, A.L.. (2021). Social vulnerability as the intersection of tangible and intangible variables: a proposal from an inductive approach. *Revista Nacional de Administración*, 12(2). DOI: 10.22458/rna.v12i2.3773

Hanmer, L., Klugman, J. (2016). Exploring Women's Agency and Empowerment in Developing Countries: Where do we stand? *Feminist Economics*. DOI: 10.1080/13545701.2015.1091087

Harcourt, W. (2023). 'Accelerating the achievement of gender equality and the empowerment of all women and girls by addressing poverty and strengthening institutions and financing with a gender perspective'. Expert Group Meeting Paper. Available at: https://www.unwomen.org/sites/default/files/2023-11/harcourt.pdf

Hester, H., Snircek, N. (2017). The Crisis of Social Reproduction and the End of Work. *The Age of Perplexity. Rethinking The World we knew*. https://www.bbvaopenmind.com/en/articles/the-crisis-of-social-reproduction-and-the-end-of-work/ (Accessed 12 March 2024)

Holmes, A. G. D. (2020). Researcher Positionality - A Consideration of Its Influence and Place in Qualitative Research - A New Researcher Guide. *Shanlax International Journal of Education* 8(4), 1-10

Horton, L. (2012). After the earthquake: gender inequality and transformation in post-disaster Haiti. *Gender and Development*, 20(2), 295–308. http://www.jstor.org/stable/41722378

Imperiale, A. J., & Vanclay, F. (2016). Experiencing local community resilience in action: Learning from post-disaster communities. *Journal of Rural Studies*, 47, 204–219. DOI: 10.1016/j.jrurstud.2016.08.002

Jalali, R. (2002). Civil society and the state: Turkey after the earthquake. *Disasters*, 26(2), 120-139.

Jean, C., Hall, T., Vickery, J. (2023). Intersectionality as a Forward-Thinking Approach in Disaster Research. *Oxford Research Encyclopedia of Natural Hazard Science*. https://oxfordre.com/naturalhazardscience/view/10.1093/acrefore/9780199389407.001.0001/acrefore-9780199389407-e-425.

Kabeer, N. (1994). Reversed Realities: Gender Hierarchies in Development Thought. Verso, London.

Kabeer, N. (2003). Gender Equality and Women's Empowerment. *Gender Mainstreaming in Poverty Eradication and the MDGs: A Handbook for Policymakers and Other Stakeholders*, London: Commonwealth Secretariat/Ottawa: IDRC/CDRI, pp.169-19

Kabeer, N. (2008). Paid Work, Women's Empowerment and Gender Justice: Critical Pathways of Social Change. *Pathways Working Paper 3. Institute of Development Studies*, University of Sussex, Brighton.

Kabeer, N. (2015). Gender, poverty, and inequality: a brief history of feminist contributions in the field of international development. *Gender and Development*, 23(2), 189–205. http://www.jstor.org/stable/24698063

Karademir, B. (2023). Building back better with gender in mind: Centering Turkey's women and girls in earthquake recovery. Available at: https://www.mei.edu/publications/building-back-better-gender-mind-centering-turkeys-women-and-girls-earthquake-recovery#:%7E:text=Recommendations%20for%20building%20back%20better&text=More %20must%20be%20done%20to,rights%2Dbased%20disaster%20management%20framewor k. (Accessed 4 March 2024)

KEDV (2019). Facebook Post showing newspaper from 1999. https://www.facebook.com/kadinemeginidegerlendirmevakfi/photos/a.182175641858333/247 8598158882725/?type=3 (Accessed 11 February 2024)

Kimura, A., Katano, Y. (2014). Farming after the Fukushima accident: A feminist political ecology analysis of organic agriculture. *Journal of Rural Studies*, Volume 34, Pages 108-116, ISSN 0743-0167

Kinnvall, C., Rydstrom, H. (2019). *Climate Hazards, Disasters, and Gender Ramifications (1st ed.)*. Routledge.

Kümbetoğlu, B., Yarar, B., User, I., Gulfidan, Ş., Mozakoğlu, M. (2007) Depremden Beş Yıl Sonra Düzce.

Knearem, T., Jo, J., Alliyu, O., Carroll, J. M. (2024). Solidarity not Charity! Empowering Local Communities for Disaster Relief during COVID-19 through Grassroots Support. *Computer Supported Cooperative Work: CSCW: An International Journal*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10606-023-09484-5

Koegler, E., Kennedy, C., Mrindi, J., Bachunguye, R., Winch, P., Ramazani, P., Makambo, M. T., Glass, N. (2019). Understanding How Solidarity Groups—A Community-Based Economic and Psychosocial Support Intervention—Can Affect Mental Health for Survivors of Conflict-Related Sexual Violence in Democratic Republic of the Congo. V*iolence Against Women*, 25(3), 359-374. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077801218778378

Letherby, G. (2011). Feminist Methodology. *The SAGE Handbook of Innovation in Social Research Methods*. SAGE Publications Limited.

Lupieri, S. (2022). 'Vulnerable' but not 'Valuable': Older refugees and perceptions of deservingness in medical humanitarianism. *Social Science & Medicine*, 301, 114903. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2022.114903

Magaldi, D., Berler, M. (2020). Semi-structured Interviews. *Encyclopedia of Personality and Individual Differences*. Springer, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-24612-3_857

Manyena, S. B. (2012). Disaster and Development Paradigms: Too Close for Comfort? *Development Policy Review*, 30(3), 327–345. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-7679.2012.00579.x

Masselot, A. (2022). Feminist Perspective on Natural Disasters Responses: Lessons from the Canterbury Earthquakes. *New Zealand Women's Law Journal*, 6, 24-42.

McHugh, M. C. (2014). Feminist qualitative research: Toward transformation of science and society. *The Oxford handbook of qualitative research*, 137-164.

McNay, L. (2016). Agency. *The Oxford Handbook of Feminist Theory*. Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordhb/9780199328581.013.2

Moreno, J., & Shaw, D. (2018). Women's empowerment following disaster: A longitudinal study of social change. *Natural Hazards*, 92(1), 205–224. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11069-018-3204-4

Moser, C. (1993). *Gender Planning and Development: Theory, Practice, and Training*. London: Routledge.

Naderifar, M., Goli, H., & Ghaljaie, F. (2017). Snowball Sampling: A Purposeful Method of Sampling in Qualitative Research. *Strides in Development of Medical Education*, 14(3). DOI: 10.5812/sdme.67670

Neumayer, E., Plümper, T. (2007). The Gendered Nature of Natural Disasters: The Impact of Catastrophic Events on the Gender Gap in Life Expectancy, 1981–2002. Annals of the Association of American Geographers, 97(3), 551–566. DOI: 10.1111/j.1467-8306.2007.00563.x

Nguyen, H., Rydström, H. (2018). Climate Disaster, Gender, and Violence: Men's Infliction of Harm upon Women in the Philippines and Vietnam. *Women's Studies International Forum*, 71, 56-62. DOI: 10.1016/j.wsif.2018.09.001

Paton, D., McClure, J., & Buergelt, P. T. (2006). The role of preparedness in natural hazard resilience.

Paulson, S., Gezon, L., (2005). Political Ecology Across Spaces, Scales, and Social Groups. *Essentials of nursing research: Methods, appraisal, and utilization.*

Polit-O'Hara, D., Beck, C.T. (2006) Essentials of nursing research: Methods, appraisal, and utilization.

PreventionWeb (2017). Understanding Disaster risk, Vulnerability. https://www.preventionweb.net/understanding-disaster-risk/component-risk/vulnerability (Accessed 28 January, 2024)

Puttick, S., Bosher, L., & Chmutina, K. (2018). Disasters are not natural. *Teaching Geography*, 43(3), 118–120. https://www.jstor.org/stable/26538739

Renuka, R., Srimulyani, E., (2015). Women after the tsunami: Impact, empowerment and changes in post-disaster situations of Sri Lanka and Aceh, Indonesia. *Asian Journal of Women's Studies*, Vol. 21, No. 2, 192–210, http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/12259276.2015.1062277

Ritchie, J., Lewis, J., Lewis, P. O. S. P. J., Nicholls, C. M., Ormston, R. (2013). *Qualitative Research Practice*.

Rocheleau, D., Thomas-Slayter, B., Wangari, E., (1996). Feminist Political Ecology: Global Issues and Local Experiences, Routledge, London

Saeidzadeh, Z. (2023). Gender Research and Feminist Methodologies. *Gender-Competent Legal Education*. Springer Textbooks in Law. Springer, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-14360-1 6

Selçuk, N. (2024). Deprem Sonrası Ortaya Çıkan Dayanışma Ağları ve Gerilim Hatlarının Sosyolojik Analizi: 6 Şubat Depremleri Örneği. *Selçuk Üniversitesi Sosyal Bilimler Enstitüsü Dergisi(53)*, 21-35. DOI: 10.52642/susbed.1335814

Sen, A. (1985). Well-being, Agency and Freedom: The Dewey Lectures 1984. *Journal of Philosophy* 82(4): 169–221.

Shakya, S., Basnet, S., Paudel, J. (2022). Natural disasters and labor migration: Evidence from Nepal's earthquake. *World Development*, 151, 105748. DOI: 10.1016/j.worlddev.2021.105748

Sweetman, C. (2013). Introduction, Feminist Solidarity and Collective Action. *Gender and Development*, 21(2), 217–229. http://www.jstor.org/stable/24697244

Tearne, J. E., Guragain, B., Ghimire, L., Leaning, J., Newnham, E. A. (2021). The health and security of women and girls following disaster: A qualitative investigation in post-earthquake Nepal. *International Journal of Disaster Risk Reduction*, 66, 102622. DOI: 10.1016/j.ijdrr.2021.102622

Telseren, A. (2022) Gender In/Equality and Feminism in Turkey. Available at: https://globaldialogue.isa-sociology.org/articles/gender-inequality-and-feminism-in-turkey (Accessed 26 April 2024)

Temin, E.S., Bortolin, M., Venier, A. (2015). Rehabilitation and Reconstruction. *Ciottone's Disaster Medicine*. 365–8. DOI: 10.1016/B978-0-323-28665-7.00059-5

Thurairajah, N., Baldry, D. (2010). Women's empowerment in post disaster reconstruction: Perspectives on policies and frameworks. *International Journal of Strategic Property Management*, 14(4), 347-361. DOI: 10.3846/ijspm.2010.26

Thurston, A. M., Stöckl, H., & Ranganathan, M. (2021). Natural hazards, disasters and violence against women and girls: a global mixed-methods systematic review. *BMJ global health*, 6(4), e004377. DOI: 10.1136/bmjgh-2020-004377

True, J. (2013). Gendered violence in natural disasters: Learning from New Orleans, Haiti and Christchurch. *Aotearoa New Zealand Social Work*, 25(2), 78-89.

Tümtaş, M. S. (2018). Toplumsal dışlanmadan vatandaşlık tartışmalarına Suriyeli kent mültecileri, *Akdeniz İ.İ.B.F. Dergisi*, (37), 26-47

Twigg, J. (2007). Characteristics of a disaster resilient community [Online]. Available at http://www.proventionconsortium.org/themes/default/pdfs/characteristics/community_charact eristics en lowres.pdf (Accessed: 12 March 2024)

UN Women (2016). Time to act on gender, climate change and disaster risk reduction. The United Nations Entity for Gender Equality and the Empowerment of Women. Available at: https://asiapacific.unwomen.org/en/digital-library/publications/2016/11/time-to-act (Accessed: 8 February 2024)

UNDP (2015). Reducing Disaster Risk, A Challenge for Development. Available at: https://www.undp.org/publications/reducing-disaster-risk-challenge-development (Accessed: 10 February 2024)

Walia, A. D. (2015). Gender and disaster management a training of trainers module. National Institute of Disaster Management. Available at: reliefweb.int/report/india/gender-and-disastermanagement-training-trainers-tot-module (Accessed: 10 October 2023)

Wanderley, F. (2017). Development in question: The feminist perspective. *The Essential Guide to Critical Development*

Wickström, A., Lund, R. W. B., Meriläinen, S., Øyslebø Sørensen, S., Vachhani, S. J., Pullen, A. (2021). Feminist solidarity: Practices, politics, and possibilities. *Gender, Work & Organization*, 28(3), 857–863. DOI: 10.1111/gwao.12689

Wilson, G. (2023). Research made simple: An introduction to feminist research. *Evidence Based Nursing*, 26(3), 87–88. https://doi.org/10.1136/ebnurs-2023-103749

Wisner, B., Blaikie, P., Cannon, T., & Davis, I. (2004). *At risk: Natural hazards, people's vulnerability and disasters* (2nd ed.). Routledge.

Wisner, B., Gaillard, J.C., Kelman, I., (2012). Framing disaster: theories and stories seeking to understand Hazards, vulnerability and risk. *Handbook of Hazards and Disaster Risk Reduction*. 18-34.

World Bank (2017) In Nepal's post-earthquake reconstruction, women masons are breaking gender barriers. Available at: https://blogs.worldbank.org/en/endpovertyinsouthasia/nepals-post-earthquake-reconstruction-women-masons-are-breaking-gender (Accessed 12 January 2024)

World Bank (2020) Hurricanes can turn back the development clock by years. Available at: https://www.worldbank.org/en/news/feature/2017/09/11/los-huracanes-pueden-retrasar-reloj-del-desarrollo (Accessed 8 January 2024)

Yazawa, A., Aida, J., Kondo, K., & Kawachi, I. (2022). Gender differences in risk of posttraumatic stress symptoms after disaster among older people: Differential exposure or differential vulnerability?. *Journal of affective disorders*, 297, 447–454. DOI: /10.1016/j.jad.2021.10.094

Yonder, A., Akçar, S., Gopalan, P. (2012). Women's Participation in Disaster Relief and Recovery. Women, Gender and Disaster: Global Issues and Initiatives